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--- Upon commencing at 9:31 a.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, everyone.  I think we will get started.  This is the technical conference for EB-2010-0039, the Union filing relating to earnings sharing, deferral accounts and some other matters.

My name is my Michael Millar.  I am joined today by Hima Desai, and I believe Khalil Viraney will be joining us later in the morning.

Before we get started, just a couple of introductory matters.  There were a couple of IRs that were filed in confidence.  I don't know if anyone has any questions on those, but what I am going to suggest is that if you do have questions on those, we will put those to the very end, and, if we have to, we will do an in camera session at the end.  So I ask you to hold off on questions that relate to confidential matters.

I think we have at least the morning booked up, by my count, maybe going a little bit into the afternoon, but we will see how it goes.  I am going to suggest we go party by party through the questions, and I understand Mr. Buonaguro has agreed to go first.

But before we begin, why don't we just do appearances to make sure the record is clear as to who is here and we all know who each other are.  I have introduced myself.  Crawford, I will hand it over to you.
Appearances:

MR. SMITH:  Crawford Smith, counsel for Union Gas, with Mark Kitchen and Chris Ripley, also from Union.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, I should introduce the panel.  The panel is Pat Elliott and Greg Tetrault.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

MR. MONDROW:  Ian Mondrow, counsel for IGUA.

MR. DeROSE:  Good morning.  Vince DeRose, counsel for CME.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for VECC, and I will also be asking questions on behalf of the School Energy Coalition, and I guess I can put in an appearance here for Jay Shepherd, who isn't here.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

MR. AIKEN:  Randy Aiken, a consultant for LPMA.

MR. QUINN:  Dwayne Quinn on behalf of FRPO.

MR. RYDER:  Alick Ryder on behalf of the City of Kitchener.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Jim Gruenbauer, City of Kitchener.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  Mr. Smith, did you have any opening remarks before I hand it over to Mr. Buonaguro?
Preliminary Matters:


MR. SMITH:  Just one, Mr. Millar, that Union has distributed this morning Exhibit B4.18, corrected, an update to an interrogatory asked by the Federation of Rental Housing Providers of Ontario.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Will this be refiled through the Board Secretary's office, as well?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I am going to suggest it is not necessary, then, to give it an exhibit number here.  I understand everyone in the room has the updated document.

MR. SMITH:  They do.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  Anything else?

MR. SMITH:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  As I said, I will be asking some questions on behalf of the School Energy Coalition.  I think they have actually forwarded their questions to you in advance.  You have had a chance to take a look at them.
UNION GAS - PANEL 1

Pat Elliott


Greg Tetrault
Questions by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  I will start with my questions, though.  And this morning I handed to the company two pages from the NGEIR decision in EB-2005-0551, and I wanted to put on the record two quotes from those -- from the two pages I gave, pages 78 and 82, and just ask a question about them.

So from page 78 of that decision, the part I am concerned about starts at the top of the page, and it is this:
"Incremental in-franchise storage requirements due to load growth would be met by Union purchasing the required additional amounts in the market and passing through the contract costs to its in-franchise customers.
"Union noted that the in-franchise storage requirement has been very stable over the past seven years, increasing from 88.2 pJ in 2000 to 90.6 pJ in 2006, an annual growth rate of just 0.45%.  In its evidence, Union explained the rationale for its proposal as follows:

"Under the current regulatory framework, any future increase to in-franchise storage requirements would be provided through a reallocation of the portfolio of storage capacity owned and managed by Union.  This current practice is not appropriate as it does not reflect the fact that the storage market is competitive, nor does it encourage or support the development of new storage capacity.  Specifically, Union would not be incented to assume the risk and commit the capital and resources to develop new storage capacity with economics premised on competitive market pricing, when there is a risk of this storage being reallocated in the future to meet in-franchise requirements at a cost of service rate."


I can tell you that I provided a copy of this to the reporter, which explains my somewhat quick reading of it.

And then at page 82 of the decision, the Board provides its finding under "Conclusion".  The Board states:
"The Board finds that there should be a cap on the amount of Union’s existing storage space that is reserved for in-franchise customers at cost-based rates.  In the Board's view, Union's existing storage assets are, in substance, a combination of 'utility assets' required to serve Union's in-franchise distribution customers and 'non-utility assets' that are not required for regulated utility operations and that are sold in the competitive storage market."


Now, my question that relates to these two quotes is actually quite simple, I think.  Could you tell me how Union interprets the phrases "existing storage space" and "existing storage assets" as it comes out of this decision?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The timing of this decision was late 2006.  How we have interpreted "existing storage assets", we have interpreted them to be the 2007 storage assets that existed at the time of the 2007 rates.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So then it includes storage space and -- or it may include storage space and storage assets that didn't exist at the time that NGEIR -- the NGEIR decision was released; is that what you're saying?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The NGEIR decision was released in November of 2006.  We used the 2007 rate case forecast to be the existing assets for the split.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So if I wanted to get a catalogue of what Union interprets to be included under those two definitions of "existing storage space" and "existing storage assets", I could look at the 2007 rate case?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  When you said -- you mean the 2007 test year, which would have been filed in 2006?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

My second question has to do with short-term storage services.  I am looking at -- or it is in reference to Union's response to Board Staff, which is IR B1.01.

B1.01, okay?  So, according to this response, for 2007 the Board approved total revenues are given as $17.961 million.  The Board approved demand costs, a total of $599,000, which includes $175,000 for OM&A. And the Board-approved commodity costs totalling an additional $1.532 million.

Then the actual results for 2008 indicate revenues of $23.327 million, which is approximately 30 percent above the Board approved for 2007; O&M costs of $2.261 million, which is about 277 percent above Board-approved 2007 total demand costs; and 1,192 percent above 2007 Board-approved OM&A costs.

The commodity costs, actuals were $6.208 million or 305 percent above Board-approved 2007 commodity costs.

Could you please explain the large O&M increases in costs in 2008 above the Board-approved 2007 total demand costs?

MS. ELLIOTT:  In 2008 and 2009, we sold the excess in-franchise storage requirements short term.  So the cost of those -- that storage was the $2.3 million that you see allocated in 2008 and 2009.

In the 2007 approved cost study, that space was
sold -- was forecast to be sold long term.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Perhaps you can flesh that out in terms of how that -- why does that increase the costs?

MS. ELLIOTT:  We are assigning the cost of the excess storage space that was forecast C1 in 2007, but sold short term in 2008 and 2009.  Those costs are being assigned to the short-term revenue so that we can calculate the margin for deferral.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Could you also explain why the 2009 OM&A costs exactly equal the 2008 OM&A -- O&M costs?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Those are the only costs related to the short-term storage space.  All the rest of the costs are currently being recovered in the in-franchise rates.  The commodity cost is the variable cost.

So to the extent that we sell more space, have more space available to sell, we take off the commodity cost.  But then the margin is then shared back with the ratepayers.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Buonaguro, I think Mr. --

MR. SMITH:  I think it may be appropriate to add I believe this issue was dealt with last year, in that there was initially a Board decision imputing $12 million of margin to this service with no associated costs.  And for that reason you see the -- the substantial -- or the difference that you have identified, counsel.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  Thank you for that.

MR. QUINN:  What is the reference on that, what you are speaking of, Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH:  We will provide that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  My last question on behalf of VECC relates to VECC IR No. B9.14.  It is with respect to the allocation of unaccounted-for gas costs to unregulated operations.

MS. ELLIOTT:  What was that --

MR. TETRAULT:  What was the reference, Michael?

MR. BUONAGURO:  B9.14.  I am told it is the very last page of the IR document.

MS. ELLIOTT:  The last page in my binder is 12, so...

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I can read it out.  The question is:

"Please explain why UFGs allocated to unregulated operations based on the ratio of actual unregulated storage volumes to Union's total actual storage in transportation volumes."

And the response was:

"Unaccounted-for gas is primarily attributable to measurement variance and is considered to be a commodity-related cost.  UFG is assigned to all volumes handled, which includes gas into and out of storage, as well as transportation volumes.  The unregulated storage operations receive a proportionate allocation of UFG based on the unregulated storage activity."

My question is simply this:  Could you explain how this response ensures that unregulated operations make an appropriate contribution to unaccounted-for gas losses in the transportation of the storage volumes?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The allocation of the costs is to the storage activity.  If that same activity is transported on our system, that allocation is part of the regulated utility cost.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

I am going to move to the School Energy Coalition questions, which I think you may have a copy of.

MR. TETRAULT:  Yes, we do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It is my task mainly to read them into the record, and then you can respond.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So the first question is with respect to Interrogatory Response B1.05, and the question is this:

"In light of the disagreement between Union and its DSM auditor with respect to the 2009 DSM audit report, would Union withdraw its request for clearance of its SSM at this time?"

MR. SMITH:  No.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Do you want to elaborate on that?

MR. SMITH:  No.

MR. BUONAGURO:  No?  Okay.

Question number two, B1.08, attachment page 12 is the basis for the second question, and the question is this:

"Please confirm that the change of ownership of Union Gas in February 2009 is the same change that was authorized by the Board in EB-2008-0304."

I will stop there and ask if you can confirm that.

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And the second part of the question --

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- is this:

"Please confirm that the preference shares referred to in paragraph 28 of the Board's decision in EB-2009-0022 remain outstanding and have not been redeemed in whole or in part."

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Their third question is with respect to Exhibit B1.08, attachment page 25, and the question is this:

"Please confirm that the accounting entries made in response to FAS143 had no impact on the earnings-sharing amount."

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Fourth question is with respect to Exhibit B1.08 as well, attachment page 47, and the question is this:

"Please confirm that stock-based compensation was valued for the purpose of earnings-sharing in 2009 using a risk-free rate of 1.4 percent."

I can leave it there for a second.

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

And the second part of the question:

"Please reconcile that assumption with the submissions of Union Gas in EB-2009-0084 on October 30th, 2009, implying a risk free rate of between 4 percent and 5 percent."

MS. ELLIOTT:  The difference between those two rates is the rate used to do a fair valuation on the stock-based comp is a short-term interest rate.  And the rate we refer to in the cost of capital decision or proceeding was a long-term risk-free interest rate.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Are you able to explain why you would use a short-term in the first instance and long-term in the second?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Compensation is generally a one- to two-year program using short-term interest rates to do a fair valuation, whereas the ownership of the company is considered to be a long-term.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

His fifth question is also with respect to Exhibit B1.08, at attachment page 51:

"Please calculate the dollar impact on earnings-sharing, if any, of the increase in employee future benefit contributions from $35 million in 2008 to $49 million in 2009."

I will stop there.

MS. ELLIOTT:  The only impact on earnings-sharing, as a result of the increase in contributions, comes from the contributions to the defined contribution pension plan, which is an increase between eight and nine of a million dollars.  So that would have half a million dollars' impact on the earnings-sharing.

Contributions to the defined benefit plan, supplemental pension and other are not part of the expense.  Those expenses are calculated on an accrual basis.  So there is no impact.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

And the second part of the question is:

"Please provide side-by-side details for the calculations of $35 million and $49 million, showing the primary reasons for the increase for the increase in contributions."

Which sounds like a request for an undertaking.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Given that the contributions don't have any impact on earnings, I wonder if it is useful information.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is it hard to do?  I am not sure how important it is to Mr. Shepherd, so...

MR. SMITH:  Well, we will find out how important it is to Mr. Shepherd, I assume, when I give the answer, which is the difficulty in doing it is not of course the determining factor.  It is relevance.  And so we will not be providing it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  The last part of the question is:

"Please provide the most current forecast of the 2010 contributions that will be required."

MS. ELLIOTT:  The 2010 forecast is similar to the 2009 amounts.

MR. SMITH:  Which would engender the same response, that we won't be providing it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

His last question is with respect to IR B5.10, or Response B5.10.

The question is this:

"Please advise all changes between 2008 and 2009 made in the percentages of time spent that were used to calculate allocations to OM&A storage support costs."

MS. ELLIOTT:  Our evidence is that the storage support costs are allocated based on time estimates.  When we got the original time estimates for 2009, they weren't significantly different than the 2008 estimates.  What happened during 2009 was an assessment of the activities for the unregulated storage operation that caused the increase in the support costs to be processed.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So is the answer -- I think your answer to the specific question is -- was that there was no significant change in the time spent?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Not in the original estimates, but what we do during the year is assess the activities, and, as a result of the Dawn Gateway activity, there was an increase in the activities on the unregulated side which caused the increase in the costs.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So then there would be something -- a significant change in the percentages of time actually spent, is what I think you are telling me?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, although it is not as formal as a time study after the fact.  The initial time estimates for 2009 were similar to 2008, and the adjustments were a true-up to reflect the actual activities for the year.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  But in order to do the true-up, then, you have the numbers that support the change in the time spent, I would expect.  I think that is what he is asking for.

MS. ELLIOTT:  The cost increases are showing in one of the interrogatory responses, which I am not sure I can lay my hands on right now.

In the evidence at Exhibit A, tab 4, page 15, we actually showed $900,000 of additional costs.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, tab 4?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Tab 4, page 15.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you give me the schedule?

MS. ELLIOTT:  It is written evidence.  Exhibit A, tab 4.  It is page 15 of the written evidence.

So the time-based allocations really come from the regulatory and some of the storage operations costs.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am a little confused.  It sounded like you're saying, on the forecast basis, you didn't anticipate much of a change in the time.  When you trued it up, it turned out there was much more time spent in one area versus another, which changed the allocation of OM&A storage costs, and you are pointing to this exhibit to tell me that this reflects the increased time spent?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you explain a little more -- like, so which line items reflect increased time spent, for example?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The regulatory line item is 1.4 million in 2009 and 1.1 in 2008.  That increase reflects the increase in the activity of the regulatory group.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Is that the only one?

MS. ELLIOTT:  There may be some in the storage operations, although generally the storage operation costs are asset based.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So then I guess we come back to the basic question:  Can you show how the time actually changed, I guess in the regulatory and if it applies into the other area you mentioned?

MS. ELLIOTT:  We don't have formal time studies documented, so I think the simple answer is "no".

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, I was going to ask some questions about this.  Well, okay, I will hold them.  I think Crawford wants to go by person.

MR. SMITH:  I do.

MR. MONDROW:  All right, I will put a pin in it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am a little confused, because it sounds like, yes, the change in the costs is based on increased time spent, but that you can't show me the documentation that shows the increase in time as opposed to what you were anticipating for that year.

So you had an original time estimate that the original forecast was based on.  That time is changed.  That changed the results, but you can't show me the time that showed the results changing -- that caused the change in the results, sorry.

Maybe you could help me with that.

MS. ELLIOTT:  When we established the original estimate, we set the system up to allocate a percentage, and that's the percentage that was allocated through 2009.

We made a manual adjustment to that to catch up and true-up the actual activity.  So we didn't revise the time estimates.  We did a manual true-up for cost estimates coming out of those areas where the activities were above what they had originally contemplated.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I guess what the question is trying to drive at is the basis for that manual adjustment.  I mean, it sounds like the basis conceptually for the manual adjustment was an increase in the time that was actually spent as opposed to what you had originally forecast based on the percent allocation.

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's right, but, really, as a result of conversations with the people in the groups doing the work, not time studies.

There is -- I am struggling as to what formal --

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am trying to understand.  So the original forecast would be based on a time study, but at the end of the year when you do a true-up, you did it based on a...

MS. ELLIOTT:  There were no time studies.  It was, again, when people do their budget, they estimate the level of effort required for, and we set the activity -- we set the percentage allocation for those groups based on that assessment of activity levels.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So originally it was based on an estimate, and at the end of the year it is trued up based on a rethinking of that estimate ex post facto, I guess?

MS. ELLIOTT:  In the event that the estimate is significant, and we considered it to be significant enough in 2009 to make the adjustment.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  I think that answers the question.

Those are my questions.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  We hadn't discussed an order.  I know Mr. DeRose is happy to go, but if someone had to go early because they had to be somewhere, please speak up.  Otherwise, we will go with Mr. DeRose.  Hearing no one, over to you, Vince.
Questions by Mr. DeRose:

MR. DeROSE:  Thanks, Mike.

Panel, my questions will be focussed almost entirely on the issues surrounding the sale of the St. Clair line.  So I will be asking a number of questions or clarifications out of the CME IRs that relate to that issue.

But I wanted to start with Board Staff IR No. 8.  This is the IR that attaches your annual report for 2009.  Do you have that IR?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I do.

MR. DeROSE:  And if I can take you to page 9 of the 2009 annual report, this is where the sale of the St. Clair line is described.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Do you have that?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Right at the bottom of the page, the report describes two condition precedents.  The first is that the sale of the St. Clair line would be contingent upon OEB approval to construct the new 17-kilometre section of pipeline from the eastern end of the St. Clair line to Dawn.

Do you see that?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  And the second condition is that Dawn Gateway receive OEB approval for the new light-handed regulatory framework, and that goes on on the next page.  Again, do you see that?

As I understand it, both of those approvals were granted by the Board in March of 2010; is that right?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's the next sentence in that paragraph, yes.

MR. DeROSE:  All right.

Once those two conditions were met, were there any other condition precedents that are not included in this annual report that had to be fulfilled before the sale could close?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I'm not sure I am really in a position to answer the details of the contract, but these were --

MR. DeROSE:  Because you don't know them or...

MS. ELLIOTT:  Well my responsibility is for the financial statements.  So as I understand it, these are the conditions precedent and these are the facts of the St. Clair sale.

MR. DeROSE:  I would be happy to have an undertaking.  I simply want to know if -- these are the only two that are identified in the annual report.  Are there additional contingencies or condition precedents that had to be met and, if so, what were they?

MR. SMITH:  Counsel, I think, if I understand your question, you are essentially asking for Union to reconsider the position it answered in response to B3.06, which seeks copies of the precedent agreements between Dawn Gateway and the shippers.  And, obviously, we indicated -- Union indicated in that interrogatory it wasn't prepared or in a position to provide that information.

So we are not going to do so.

MR. DeROSE:  I am not asking for reconsideration.  That can be dealt with in a motion.

What I am asking for is, in the annual report, there are only two contingencies identified.  Are those the only two, or did you leave something out?  That's not asking for an agreement.  That is asking:  Are the two contingencies identified in the annual report the only two contingencies that existed?

MR. SMITH:  Well, they're the only two that are identified in the annual report, and as I understand it, the only two condition precedents that Union is aware of.  Whether there is something else in the agreement that Dawn Gateway had with the shippers, we are not in a position to provide you with that.

MR. DeROSE:  And are you not in a position to provide us with that because you do not have the agreements or are not in possession of the agreements, or because you feel that that is not relevant?

MR. SMITH:  Both.  Union is not a party -- apparently my answer is so unpalatable the microphone won't turn on.

Union is not a party to those agreements, so it can't -- it is not in a position to provide them.

MR. MONDROW:  Is Union a shipper?  Is Union to be a shipper on the new line?

MR. SMITH:  Well, I think that you will find there is, Mr. Mondrow, there is an interrogatory that deals with that, what Union knows about the shippers and whether the various shipper arrangements as well, and there has been a refusal to that as well.  But I also don't see whether Union is a shipper, how that is relevant.

MR. MONDROW:  If Union is a shipper, presumably it's executed one of these agreements, and it hasn't.  Is that not the case?

MR. SMITH:  I think you have our position.

MR. MONDROW:  Well, no.  Your position is you don't have access to the agreements.  And I am asking whether Union executed an agreement.

MR. SMITH:  As I understand it, the party with the agreements is Dawn Gateway, and Dawn Gateway is the only party in a position to provide them, and Union can't.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Maybe I can just back up.

Union was a party to the agreement for the sale of the St. Clair Line; correct?

MR. SMITH:  Is that a question for me or for the witness?

MR. DeROSE:  To the panel, unless you want to become a witness.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.  The St. Clair Line is a Union asset, and the agreement was with -- between Union and Dawn Gateway to purchase the asset.

MR. DeROSE:  Right.  And so I presume that since it is in your annual report, Union would know what condition precedents have to be met to close the sale on its own asset.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.  And these are the two conditions precedent to close the sale on this asset.

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.  That is all that my question was.

If I can now turn you to the CME interrogatories, which is Exhibit -- the B3 series, and I would like to start with -- since Mr. Smith raised this issue, let's start with B3.06.

And my question on this is -- Union states that it is not in a position to provide the information as requested.  This is with respect to the long-term precedent agreements between DGLP and its shippers.

Just to understand your refusal, is your refusal on the basis that the information is not relevant, or on the basis that Union was not a shipper, and as such, did not execute such an agreement and so it is not in your possession at all?  So is it relevance or is it availability?

MR. SMITH:  Relevance.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And so I take it that you would be in possession of it, of the precedent agreement.  At least between Union and DGLP?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you.

And similar question, if I can then take you to Exhibit B3.07.  And in fact, the next -- the responses to CME Interrogatory 7, 8, 9, 10 and 11 all refer to the response to B3.06.

I leave it up to perhaps counsel for Union whether we want to go through each one individually or not.  But is the basis the same for all of those, that you are objecting on the basis of relevance?  Or is it because you don't know the information that is being asked?

MR. SMITH:  Well, it's -- we do take the position that the information is not relevant.

I think it is particularly the case that it is both not relevant and not in Union's possession, contracts that are not with Union.  So to the extent there are contracts between Dawn Gateway and shippers who are not Union, those are not contracts in Union's possession, nor do we see those contracts as being relevant.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And so for instance in B3.07, I assume that subject to relevance, you would know the duration of the contract between Union and DGLP?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  And would you have knowledge of the duration of the contracts with the other parties?  So not actual copies of the contracts, but knowledge of the duration?

MR. SMITH:  No.  That is Dawn Gateway's information.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

And just a question on that -- and we will get into this in a little bit into the future -- but in situations where you have a single individual representing Spectra's interest in DGLP and also representing Union as the seller, how do you separate the knowledge of that person, whether it's Union's knowledge or DGLP's knowledge?

MR. SMITH:  Well, the information is referable to the entity.  That is simply the answer.

MR. DeROSE:  But if a Union employee does know this information by virtue of their role, is it your position that Union doesn't know that information?

MR. SMITH:  Certainly our position is that Union, to the extent the individual happens to be an individual who works at Union or has responsibilities in Union and at Dawn, that that does not put Union in a position to provide the information.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

If I can then take you to Exhibit B3.12, and specifically you have two attachments, this relates to information showing the spreads that existed on a daily basis between June of 2009 and June of 2010.

If we go to attachment number 1, am I right when I read it that the drop of spreads which caused concern and which is identified in your evidence as causing the concern in March of 2010, that is where we have this dip down to somewhere in the range of -- I would put it at about 11 cents.

Is that the right spot I am looking at?

MR. TETRAULT:  I think it is, Vince.

MR. DeROSE:  And then by April, you have the spreads going up so that right now we are up around 23 cents.

Am I reading that right?

MR. TETRAULT:  You are.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Are you aware of -- has there been any further discussions about the sale of the St. Clair Line on the basis that this appears to be a bit of an anomaly?  It is a one-month dip that has gone back up?

MR. TETRAULT:  Not to my knowledge.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.


And the other question is this:  Does Union have any knowledge about whether the fixed price, at least for its contract as a shipper with DGLP, would have been below that 11-cent spread?

MR. TETRAULT:  I don't have any knowledge of that, Vince.

MR. DeROSE:  Would anyone at Union?

MR. TETRAULT:  Presumably.

MR. DeROSE:  Can I get that answer by way of undertaking, unless you feel it is irrelevant?

MR. SMITH:  We don't feel it is relevant.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So I take it that is an objection?

MR. SMITH:  It is.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Then can I take you to the next attachment, attachment number 2?

In this one, if I am reading this right, first of all, just to make sure I am reading it right, in June of 2009 and in November of 2009 you actually have negative spreads; is that right?  Is that showing negative spreads?

MR. TETRAULT:  That's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  So the year leading up to or the year previous leading up to the March/April 2010 period, you actually have negative spreads, which are quite a bit lower than the spreads that are being shown in the March/April period; correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

Now, can you explain to me -- I see attachment number 1, the source is ICE end of day settles, forward basis swap, 12-month average, and that the source for attachment number 2 is the Dawn Platts Gas Daily.  So I recognize they come from two different sources, but these seem to be pretty significant differences, in that one is showing negative spreads and the other is not.

Do you have any explanation why these two different sources would have such different spreads?

MR. TETRAULT:  My understanding is that attachment 1 is a forward-looking 12-month price, whereas attachment 2 is essentially a daily close or a daily settled price.

MR. DeROSE:  Oh, okay.  So is the -- am I right that the daily settled price is a historical actual, as opposed to attachment 1 is -- because it is forward looking, is just anticipated?

MR. TETRAULT:  That's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  So from a historical perspective, attachment number 2 would be -- is it fair to say it is more accurate with what actually occurred?

MR. TETRAULT:  It does represent actual closes on individual days.  Whether it is more accurate or not, I don't know that I could say, because it is really a bit of an apples/oranges comparison between the two attachments.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

Can I then take you to B3.15?  I just want to make sure I understand the roles that people are playing.

First of all, the IR indicates that Mr. Baker and Mr. Isherwood represented Union at the leave to sell hearing, as well as DGLP at the leave to construct hearing, and that Mr. Capps has replaced Mr. Baker, who has assumed a new role in Spectra, and that Mr. Capps currently represents Spectra's interest in DGLP.

Now, does Mr. Capps also represent Union's interest in the sale of the St. Clair line on behalf of Union?

MR. TETRAULT:  I would say Mr. Capps has the same responsibilities as Mr. Baker did in that regard.

MR. DeROSE:  So is that a "yes"?

MR. TETRAULT:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Then if I turn the page to -- sorry, B3.16, it identifies that Mr. Capps is responsible for Union's unregulated commercial business.

Would that responsibility include the responsibility surrounding Union as a shipper on the DGLP line, if the sale had closed?

MR. TETRAULT:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Were there any processes or procedures put in place so that Union or Spectra or DGLP could determine or identify when Mr. Capps was representing Union on the sale, as opposed to DGLP on the build, as opposed to Union as a shipper?  How would people know what hat he was wearing at any given point?

MR. TETRAULT:  I don't know that I can answer that.  We certainly have an Affiliate Relationships Code that I believe these types of relationships fall under, but I can't provide you any more details than that.

MR. DeROSE:  Sorry.  That is an internal Union affiliation code?

MR. TETRAULT:  I believe it is in respect to the Board's Affiliate Relationships Code.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  That is the Board-approved ARC.

MR. KITCHEN:  Just to be clear, I think that -- I can't remember who testified to this in the Dawn Gateway proceeding, but I think it was Mr. Baker and Mr. Isherwood that indicated that Union employees are also required to follow the Spectra code of business ethics, in addition to any requirements under the ARC, and I think the Board found that for the purposes of DGLP, Union would apply with the ARC as well.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  I wasn't actually -- if my questions conveyed we were suggesting you were somehow violating ARC, I wasn't suggesting you were violating ARC.  I was just trying to understand how you would know at any given point the interests that Mr. Baker was pursuing, in light that there may be at times conflicting obligations.  So that is where I was going, but we will leave that for argument.

If I can then take you to B3.17, this, along with the attachments, relates to documents or conversations with respect to the delay in the construction of the Dawn Gateway pipeline.

First of all -- and perhaps I am just being too picky on the word, but in the first sentence, you say:
"Union understands that the Shipper's request for a delay of the Dawn Gateway project was substantively conveyed..."


Is there a magic in the term "substantively conveyed" or -- as opposed to is there something I should be reading into that?

MR. SMITH:  No.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So it wasn't insubstantially conveyed before or informally conveyed before?

MR. SMITH:  Well, I think it was meant to convey, counsel, that it is possible that there were telephone conversations, but there were -- there were the meetings that are referenced in the e-mails that are attached, and that's the crux of it.  That's what is intended to be conveyed.

MR. DEROSE:  Okay.  Well, then let me take you to attachment number 1.  This is an e-mail from Steve Baker on March 12th.

Now, first of all, just from looking at this e-mail, are you able to tell in what capacity or what role Mr. Baker is sending this e-mail, whether he is sending it on behalf of Spectra, whose interests are in DGLP, or whether he is sending it on behalf of Union as a shipper or Union as the seller of a pipeline?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I certainly read this to be Mr. Baker conveying the message as Dawn Gateway Limited Partnership.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

Then if we go through who he is sending it to, Julie Dill is the president of Union, correct, or was?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's right.  Still is.

MR. DeROSE:  Still is?  Okay.

Now, Ms. Dill, did she have any role or interest in DGLP?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I don't know.

MR. DeROSE:  Is that something that Union is able to answer now, or in an undertaking?

MR. SMITH:  She did not.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So I take it, then, that her receipt of this e-mail would be either with respect to the seller or, I guess, both as the seller of the pipeline and as a potential shipper; is that fair?

MR. SMITH:  I think it is a fair statement.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And who is Mike Shannon?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I am not sure of his precise title, but he is our vice-president of storage and transmission operations, and engineering.

MR. KITCHEN:  Engineering and construction.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And that is with Union, I assume?  Not with Spectra?

MS. ELLIOTT:  He is with Union.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And given his role, would he be getting this because of the implications for Union as a shipper, or because of the implications of Union as -- the potential sale of the St. Clair Line?

MS. ELLIOTT:  It would be more related to the storage and transportation operations, as a result of Union's connection with the Dawn Gateway partnership and the sale of the line.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you.

Then we have Allen Capps, who we have talked about.  Again, I take it you would agree on the face of this e-mail, we can't really tell in what capacity he is receiving this, in terms of whether it is as his work for Spectra, or his work for Union.

MS. ELLIOTT:  I would assume it is his role as replacing Mr. Baker about this same time frame.

MR. DeROSE:  So if you thought Mr. Baker would have been writing on behalf of DGLP, Mr. Capps would be receiving it in the same capacity?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

I take it Mark Isherwood, same thing, because he would have just, Mr. Capps would have just been taking over from Mr. Isherwood; is that --

MR. TETRAULT:  No.  Mr. Capps would have been taking over for Mr. Baker.

MR. DeROSE:  Oh, I'm sorry.  In that case, why would Mr. Isherwood be receiving this?

MR. TETRAULT:  At the time and currently, Mr. Isherwood reported to Mr. Baker in the past and Mr. Capps today.  It is a direct reporting relationship.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

Who is Glen Priestley?

MS. ELLIOTT:  He reports to Mr. Isherwood.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And Michelle Lindsay?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Mr. Baker's admin assistant.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

Now, do you know what any of these people did in response to Mr. Baker's e-mail?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The people being those listed in the next steps?  No.

MR. DeROSE:  No.  Those -- all of the people that we have just went through.  He sent this e-mail to them on March 12th.

MS. ELLIOTT:  I would say it was for their information.

MR. DeROSE:  So nothing in this e-mail would be seen as an action item for any of these people to take further steps?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Other than the next step, number five, identifies an action item for Rick to follow up with the Ontario Energy Board.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

MS. ELLIOTT:  And I guess number one is Mike Shannon, so he had a next step to deal with the pipe purchase.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Do you know whether those -- all five of those next steps were undertaken and completed?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I believe they have been, yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Mr. Mondrow wanted to sneak in.

MR. MONDROW:  Much to Mr. Smith's dismay.  But just while we're on that, the name Mark on item number 2, I assume that would be Mark Isherwood?

 MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, that's right.

MR. MONDROW:  And the name Glen on item number 4 would be Glen Priestley?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Thanks.

MR. DeROSE:  And in that case, I am just going to -- the next step I was going to say is number 4:  "Glen Priestley, finalize details of all out-of-pockets."

Can I just have you turn to B3.20?  Oh, I'm sorry.  Not B3.20.  Just give me one moment here to --

MR. SMITH:  B3.29?

MR. DeROSE:  Yes.  Thank you.  Do you have B3.29, panel?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  First of all, would these be the out-of-pocket costs that are referred to in that e-mail?  Do you know?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Can you explain why DGLP is paying for all of these costs incurred by Union?

MS. ELLIOTT:  They were incurred on behalf of the partnership.

MR. DeROSE:  And my understanding was that it was Spectra that had an interest in DGLP, not Union, that Union was simply a shipper and the seller of a line.  Is that not -- am I wrong on that?

MS. ELLIOTT:  You also saw Union's people in the regulatory process.  So Union's -- was facilitating the partnership and the project.

So the costs that were directly incurred by Union Gas were reimbursed by the partnership.

MR. DeROSE:  Was there a contractual basis for reimbursement of this money?  I assume DGLP isn't just being nice.  I am just trying to understand the basis for DGLP paying.

MS. ELLIOTT:  I assume there was, but I am not sure.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  When I look at -- I mean, on the e-mail that we had been discussing earlier, where it said:  "Glen to talk about out-of-pocket costs," it sounded like that was -- to me that sounds like something that is to be negotiated.  Were these costs negotiated between Union and DGLP?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Not that I'm aware of, no.

MR. DeROSE:  Well, if they weren't negotiated, what was Glen finalizing, what details was he finalizing on all out-of-pocket costs?

MR. KITCHEN:  The costs that Glen would have been finalizing are those out-of-pocket costs incurred by Dawn Gateway, and that would be addressed subsequently by the shippers who wanted out of the precedent agreements.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

What I am going to request is that by way of undertaking, Union identify the contractual basis, if any, for DGLP reimbursing Union these costs, and to produce a copy of the contract or any amendments that were made to that.  That's request number one.

And then secondly, any correspondence with respect to the finalization of these out-of-pocket costs that led to this number of 600 and –- well, that led to the numbers set out in B3.29.

MR. SMITH:  Just so I understand, and maybe some clarification, Mr. Kitchen identified that in 3.17 what is being referred to are Dawn's out-of-pocket costs, Dawn Gateway's out-of-pocket costs.

What is identified in 3.29 are Union's costs that it incurred in the application.

And you will see that those costs, counsel, are legal fees, intervenor costs award, and Board costs.

And I guess I am struggling to understand if all of the costs that Union has incurred are being covered and ratepayers are not paying any of those costs, why agreements that give rise to those payments would be relevant.

Similarly, if what is being contemplated is the payment of Dawn's costs, which are not borne by ratepayers, are being covered by shippers, why are those relevant in this proceeding?

MR. DeROSE:  Well, in terms of the relevance, I mean, the Exhibit B3.29 sets out the costs that Union has incurred, that DGLP is paying.

And whether those costs are or are not being flowed to ratepayers, I think we are entitled to know the basis for Union's reimbursement.  We are trying to understand the process which occurred, and to also understand exactly -- well, let me back up.

The issue in this -- the issue which we are exploring is whether, for regulatory purposes, the sale of the St. Clair line should be treated as having been completed in March, and on that basis - maybe this will help so you understand where we are coming from - and whether it was imprudent for Union, as the seller of the pipeline, to not insist that the sale be completed once the condition precedents had been fulfilled.

So put another way, if Union was an arm's-length seller, would it have insisted that DGLP close the deal once the condition precedents had been fulfilled, and the extent to which Union, as not only the seller, but also as a potential shipper and also as a part-owner in DGLP, chose not to go ahead with the sale for reasons -- for cost implications that fall outside of the regulated business?

So was there a choice made to prefer the unregulated business over the regulated business?

So in that context I think -- I submit that understanding exactly what the basis for DGLP paying the costs was and whether this was, for instance, a clause of the agreement of purchase and sale for the -- as seller, or whether this was an agreement that was worked out on the back end after the decision was made not to go ahead or as a way to incent Union to not force their hand and close the sale.

So that is why we want to understand the basis for DGLP picking up all of these costs.

MR. KITCHEN:  There were definitely agreements between Dawn Gateway and Union with respect to the development of the Dawn Gateway project and the construction.  I believe redacted versions of those were filed in the Dawn Gateway proceeding.

The evidence that was given in that proceeding was that Union's in-franchise ratepayers would be held harmless against any costs associated with the construction of Dawn Gateway, and included any costs associated with the regulatory applications.

I still struggle with how the costs that would have been incurred by Dawn Gateway and ultimately that would be dealt with in terms of the shippers' desire to get out of the current -- or their existing precedent agreements has any relevance to whether or not Union should have proceeded with the sale.

The fact is the shippers weren't interested in proceeding at this time because of changes in the market, and the shippers are also customers of Union.  And it is in no one's best interest to force shippers into a deal that they don't like.

So Union's ratepayers aren't harmed, the shippers aren't harmed, and we have set out a process that will reevaluate Dawn Gateway going forward.  None of that has changed.

We are simply delaying dealing with the disposition of the $6.4 million or the under recovery in rates until such time as we have certainty around what Dawn Gateway is doing.

MR. SMITH:  Counsel, if I can --

MR. DeROSE:  I was going to give a suggestion.

MR. SMITH:  I was just going to say, if you want a reference to the Dawn Gateway proceeding and those agreements that Mr. Kitchen referred to, we will provide you with that.

MR. DeROSE:  Actually, I think we are on the same page there.  If you could give us that reference, that would be helpful.  And if you could also -- if there are additional agreements which were not filed, if you could, at the very least -- obviously we would like them produced, but if you object to production of them, if you could at least identify whether they do or do not exist?

MR. SMITH:  We will do that.

MR. MILLAR:  Would you like that by way of undertaking, Mr. DeRose?

MR. DeROSE:  Yes.  I think that would be the easiest.

MR. MILLAR:  We will call that JT - "T" for technical conference - 1.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.1:  to PROVIDE the refernces to agreements between Dawn Gateway and Union filed in the Dawn Gateway proceeding.  To the extent that additional agreements or amended agreements exist that were not previously filed, Union will produce them unless Union otherwise raises an objection.  If there is an objection, Union will identify the existence of the agreements and the basis for the objection (satisfied following morning break)

MR. MILLAR:  Are you happy to have that all as one undertaking?

MR. DeROSE:  Absolutely, unless Mr. Smith objects.

Okay.  If we can go to B3.18?  Now, as I understand this answer, that Union supported the pipeline project proceeding, but that in fact it was because of other shippers requesting that the project -- first of all, that the project be delayed.

Do I take it that the -- is the project terminated or is it delayed?  Is it in abeyance or is it over?

MR. SMITH:  It's delayed.  You will see that the e-mails subsequent to the -- the second of the two e-mails at 3.17 makes that point clear.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay, thank you.

The fact that you wanted the pipeline project to proceed, did you convey that to DGLP?  Did you tell them, either in written form or in oral, that you wanted the project to proceed?

MR. KITCHEN:  I am just reviewing the e-mails.  I thought it was in one of the e-mails.

MR. DeROSE:  I didn't see it.  The reason I ask is that in your answer in B3.18, you confirm that you did not submit a written or oral request to delay the pipeline, but you don't -- you are silent on whether you actually conveyed the message that you wanted it to proceed.  Would you like to take that by way of undertaking?

MR. KITCHEN:  Well, I think if you look at the last sentence in the first e-mail.

MR. DeROSE:  The one that says, "Please do not forward this e-mail"?

MR. KITCHEN:  No, the second last sentence, sorry, where it says:
"This is clearly not where we want it to be -- we want it to be but I believe this proposal to be our best course of action in the circumstances we find ourselves in -- The market is changing."


I think that that shows that Union, in any case,
was -- wanted the project to proceed, and it was the market that drove the delay.

MR. DeROSE:  Yes.  I accept -- you have said in your IR response in B3.18 that you wanted the project to proceed.

My question is:  Did you ever tell DGLP that, or did you just, looking at the situation, decide to stay silent and sort of accept what is described as option A in e-mail 1?

MR. KITCHEN:  I am sure our position with DGLP was we wanted to proceed.

MR. DeROSE:  Now, did Union, with its seller-of-the-pipeline hat on, ever demand that DGLP close the deal?

MR. KITCHEN:  No.

MR. DeROSE:  Why not?

MR. KITCHEN:  Because it was not in our interest to proceed, or to do that.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.

MR. KITCHEN:  It was the shippers that were making the request, and we responded to the needs of the shippers.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, if I can just take you back to B3.17, the actual IR Response proper, sub (2), it refers to the amendment of the existing precedent agreements.

Once the decision was made to delay the project, was Union's consent required to amend the existing precedent agreements?

MR. KITCHEN:  I guess if you are asking whether Union's consent was required, I would say it was not required, but it was given by virtue of the fact that we signed the precedent agreement.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  I realize that the amended precedent agreements, that you have refused to produce those based on relevance.  But just to be clear, in case it is not already, when we ask for a copy of the precedent agreements -- we can deal with this later on the basis of relevance -- but we would include not only the precedent agreement original, but also any amendments throughout the process, including these ones.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  I understand your request.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you.

B3.19, this is a question in which we have asked whether the issue on the delay, whether board of directors' approval was required.  And you say:
"The board of directors did not take any action, nor was it required to."

Can you just explain your rationale for the board of directors not having to be involved in this type of a decision?

MR. KITCHEN:  This was an internal management decision, and there was no obligation on the part of Union to take it to the board of directors, and nothing for the board of directors to decide on.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  B3.20, this is with respect to outstanding commitments as of April 22nd, 2010.

Would there have been outstanding commitments with third parties at the time that the decision was made to delay the project?  So as of –- well, the e-mail is March 12th.  Put another way, were outstanding commitments dealt with between March 12th and April 22nd in that period?

MR. KITCHEN:  I don't know the answer to that, but I assume that given that the original e-mail went out on March 12th and by April 22nd there were no outstanding commitments, that they would have been dealt with in that time period.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  In terms of any out-of-pocket costs that would arise from that, who would have paid those costs?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The partnership would have paid those costs, Dawn Gateway.

MR. DeROSE:  So none of those costs would be flowed through Union?

MS. ELLIOTT:  No.

MR. KITCHEN:  No.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Then B3.21, this is with respect to DGLP's costs incurred with respect to Union's application.

 Again, I understand that you are taking the position this is not relevant.  Would Union be in possession of this information subject to relevance?  So this is the same thing as B3.06.

MR. KITCHEN:  Union would not be in possession of the partnership's costs.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And in terms of B3.22 -- this is the next one -- I recognize from what you have said previous that you may not know the indemnities that DGLP demanded from all five of its committed shippers, but I presume that you would know the indemnities, if any, that DGLP demanded from Union; is that fair?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's fair.

MR. DeROSE:  And that your basis of refusal, again, is relevance, not the absence of possession of that information?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's right.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Again, just to perhaps save time, I think the same questions with respect to B3.23 and B3.24, I just want to confirm that at least -- at least with respect to the information as it relates to Union as one of the committed shippers, you would have the information, but you are objecting on the basis of relevance?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. DeRose, we will be looking to take a break before too long.  Are you nearing the end of your questions, or will it be more than five or 10 minutes?

MR. DeROSE:  I would probably be 15 more minutes or 20 minutes.  So if you want to have a break, and I can try and tighten this up?

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe we will do that.  I would like to keep the break relatively brief so we can keep moving through this.

 So we will begin again promptly at five after 11:00.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 10:50 a.m.


--- Upon resuming at 11:03 a.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Welcome back, everyone.  Mr. DeRose, do you wish to continue?

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, Mr. DeRose, before you begin, we had undertaken earlier to provide a reference to a question relating to Board 1.01 in response to a question from Mr. Buonaguro, and there was a follow-up from Mr. Quinn.  The reference is EB-2009-0052 in Union's reply argument in that proceeding.  I believe that is the answer to undertaking 1.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

At the break, I have met with a couple of the other intervenors, and one line of my questioning has now been put aside, because they're going to be following up on it in more detail.  So the break did shorten things.

IR CME No. 25, I just want clarification here.  The two e-mails attached to B3.17, do those represent all of the communications?

MR. KITCHEN:  My understanding is that those represent the communications, and all of the other communications would have been oral.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  I take it if at some point you determine that is incorrect and there are other written communications, you will provide those to us?

MR. KITCHEN:  I don't think that would be the case, but, yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Sorry, you don't think it is the case you will identify them, or you don't think it is the case you will give it to us?

MR. KITCHEN:  I don't think it is the case we will find any.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay, that's fair.

I'm sorry to jump backwards, but I just had one more question.  If I can take you back to Board Staff -- we may not have to turn there, but it is Board Staff 8.  This is the annual report.

The way that that report reads in the last paragraph that we had gone through, where it identifies two contingencies, both of which had been fulfilled by the holding of the hearing, and then the subsequent OEB decision in March 2010, it certainly would leave the reader with the conclusion or impression that the sale either has gone forward or is imminently about to go forward.

Has there been any additional -- any material change report filed or any amendments to the annual report filed by Union to identify that that is not the case, that the sale is no longer going forward that was reported in the 2009 annual report?

MS. ELLIOTT:  There have been no formal filings.  The sale has been delayed, not that it is not going forward.  But at this point, the decision hasn't been finalized, and there will be a revisit.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Then if I can take you to B3.41?  Now, just in terms of the answer here, Union takes the position that the return on equity of its unregulated storage operations does not have any relevance to the issue of allocation of costs.

Did you undertake that type of calculation?  So did you calculate what the ROE for Union's unregulated storage operations is for the fiscal period ending December 31st, 2009?

MR. SMITH:  Counsel, notwithstanding the purity of Union's position that it is not relevant, the information was disclosed.

MR. DeROSE:  Which was going to be my next question.  That is what I thought it was, but I wasn't sure.

Is that what you have disclosed at attachment number -- at the attachment?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. DeROSE:  On the attachment, not attacking the purity of Union's position on relevance, the line item "financial expenses", can you describe to me what you mean by "financial expenses"?

MS. ELLIOTT:  It's interest.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So that entire 11.7 million, that is entirely interest costs?

MS. ELLIOTT:  This is a deemed calculation using the same type of methodology that we would use for utilities.  So it is deemed interest on rate base.

MR. DeROSE:  Fair enough.  It was the phrase "financial expenses" that we would usually see interest costs.

So thank you very much.  Those are all of my questions.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.  Mr. Mondrow, would you like to go next?

MR. MONDROW:  If that's okay.

MR. MILLAR:  Or anyone else, for that matter?  Okay, it is you.
Questions by Mr. Mondrow:

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  Thanks.

I just want to step back to the earnings sharing consequences, if any, of the Dawn Gateway issue, if I could.

I wasn't involved -- IGUA wasn't involved in those proceedings, and I just want to make sure I understand or that we agree, at least -- you understand the same as I understand about what the Board directed, and then I just want to understand how that has been reflected in the filing, in this application, if I could.

So probably the best way to do it is to open up the earnings sharing calculation, which is Exhibit A, tab 2, appendix B, schedule 1.

Just before I ask you to walk me through line 12 on that schedule and explain it to me, let's just see if we have the same understanding.

So it is my understanding that in previous decisions in respect of the St. Clair line, the Board determined that there is what they called an under-recovery from -- historical under-recovery from ratepayers in respect to the St. Clair line equal to 6.402 million.  Is that right?  Is that your understanding?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And the relevant date for determination of that number, according to the Board, was March 1st, 2010.  Is that your understanding, as well?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And there is actually a deferral account that's been set up, in which that amount, 6.402 million, as of March 1st, 2010 has been entered, and it is accruing interest?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Then the second component of the St. Clair sale issue that the Board has determined is that as of the same date, March 1st, 2010, the pipeline has been deemed to have been taken out of cost of service.  Is that your understanding, as well?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And there is a second deferral account that the Board has directed, that Union has in fact set up, which is recording the impacts of removal of that line from cost of service as of March 1st, 2010; is that correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And that second deferral account continues to be credited, or I guess will or has been credited, with a principal amount and will accrue interest as time goes by until disposition?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Both of those accounts, both the 6.402 million shortfall account and the rate base impact account, have been set up.  There are entries in them and they are continuing to accrue interest, and they will both, as I understand it, be disposed of at some point in the future, but that is not a part of the request in this application; is that correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Perfect.  So if we can now go to tab A, appendix 2, schedule B, page 1, and presumably with reference to line 12 and little footnote Roman V, I wonder if you could just explain to me the relevance of -- I assume that in column C on line 12, the 6,402 entry, which is in millions of dollars -- or, sorry, is in hundreds of thousands of dollars, so 6.402 million, which is the same number as the Board determined was the historical under-recovery, I am assuming that entry relates to, as pointed out in the note, this provision for the historical under-recovery.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, it does.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Can you just explain to me how that number relates to the earnings sharing calculation?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Okay.  You will see in column A, line 12, there is a cost recorded of 6.8 million.

MR. MONDROW:  Yes.

MS. ELLIOTT:  That really is substantially the 6.4.  So when we set the payable up at the end of 2009, we charged expense with the 6.4.

By removing it in column C, it has been taken out of the utility earnings calculation for the purposes of earnings-sharing.

So there is no impact on the earnings-sharing calculation of the cost associated with the disposition of the St. Clair Line.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So just for my –- and I apologize, as a non-accountant.  As I did the addition, the first number, which is a -- you characterize it as a loss, but I gather that -- is that a credit -- subject to the adjustment, would that otherwise be a credit to ratepayers?  Is that what that number represents?

MS. ELLIOTT:  It's been recorded on the balance sheet as payable to ratepayers.

 MR. MONDROW:  Okay.

 MS. ELLIOTT:  Which is a credit.  But the other side of that entry is a charge against earnings.

MR. MONDROW:  No, we will get to the other side of the entry.  But the 6,838 is the sum of, removing the parentheses for a second, 6,402 and 436; is that right?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Right.

MR. MONDROW:  And so the 436 is what?  Is that the expense that you referred to?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Sorry, the 432 under column B?

MR. MONDROW:  It's 436, I think.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Sorry, 436.  Those will be other losses on asset dispositions related to the storage activities.

MR. MONDROW:  Related to the St. Clair pipeline?

MS. ELLIOTT:  No.

MR. MONDROW:  No?

MS. ELLIOTT:  No.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So the -- so there is a loss of 6.402 million embedded in the 6.838 number?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Then there is an adjustment of 6.402 million in column C, to effectively reverse that loss for the purposes of this earnings-sharing calculation?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And so at the end of the day, in respect of this application, the deferral or delay in the consummation commercially of the sale of the St. Clair pipeline has no impact on earnings-sharing calculations for 2009 earnings?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's right.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Great.  Thanks.

Sorry.  Bear with me for a sec.  I just want to cover all of the questions in this topic.

 So I want to go back to CME's -- one of CME's interrogatories, which you were talking about, which is Exhibit B3.

I want to go to IR 29, so it is Exhibit B3.29.  As I understood your earlier discussion with Mr. DeRose, the costs on this table that is provided at Exhibit B3.29 are Union's costs of the Dawn Gateway, or the leave to sell St. Clair Line, more accurately, and the leave-to-construct proceedings; is that right?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's right.

MR. MONDROW:  Are there other costs incurred by Union in connection with the St. Clair pipeline sale that are not captured on this table?

MS. ELLIOTT:  These will be the third-party costs, the out-of-pocket.  The other costs related to the Dawn Gateway project are an allocation of internal costs that are in our O&M.

MR. MONDROW:  Have those internal costs associated with Union's activities to sell the St. Clair pipeline, have they been removed from O&M expenses for the purposes of the earnings-sharing calculation?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, they have.

MR. MONDROW:  Where can we see that in the evidence?

MS. ELLIOTT:  You can't see the specific removal of costs, but if you look at that same schedule, Exhibit A, tab 2, appendix B, Schedule 1, there is $12.9 million worth of O&M expenses removed from our total O&M for non-utility storage operations.

MR. MONDROW:  That's in column B, line 6?

MS. ELLIOTT:  In column B, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, yes?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The Dawn Gateway costs will be included in that number.

MR. MONDROW:  Could you --

MS. ELLIOTT:  For the internal allocations will be included in that number.  The direct third-party costs are just recoverable, receivable from Dawn Gateway.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Could you undertake to provide the details of those internal allocations, the kind of a listing of the dollar figures and what activities they relate to, so that we can kind of get some comfort as to the categories of expenses that you have eliminated from your expense for earnings-sharing?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That was actually an interrogatory.

MR. MONDROW:  Oh, it was?  Good.

MS. ELLIOTT:  But I am not sure that I could put my finger on which one it was.  But let me get the reference for you.

MR. MONDROW:  If you want to just get back to me with the reference, that would be fine.  Thanks.

I assume –- well, we will have a look at that, or I will have a look at that when you point it out to me.  Thanks.

Let me take you to the questions I have on IGUA's -- the responses to IGUA's interrogatories, and then I have a couple of questions on some others.

 But if we start with Exhibit B5.03, we asked you about what we characterized in the interrogatory as an overspend in respect of -- this is a DSMVA question in respect of the distribution contracts.  I don't think it is a rate class, but it is a grouping of customers for DSM allocation purposes.

You provided, in response, some net TRC numbers and some cubic metre gas savings.  And I wondered if you could help me a little bit.

The narrative of the response says that the incremental funds were spent on incentives, and could you tell me with whether the spend was an increase in incentives per program participant, or an increase in the number of program participants, or both?

MS. ELLIOTT:  We don't know the response to that.

MR. MONDROW:  Could I ask you, then, for an undertaking just to advise whether the overspend included the participation of more customers than forecast, and if so, what programs those incentives related to?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  JT1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.2:  TO Advise whether distribution contracts overspend included participation of more customers than forecast, and if so, advise what programs the incentives related to.

MR. MONDROW:  If we could flip forward to B5.05, this was a question about the lion's share of the O&M increases in the earnings-sharing -– well, for 2009, which are relevant obviously to the earnings-sharing calculation.  And the response was that capital additions drove the increase in depreciation costs.

 And I wondered if you could elaborate on what the capital additions were, in the main.

MS. ELLIOTT:  I actually think that was another interrogatory response that identified what the groupings of capital additions were for the year.

It is at B8.06.  It is a breakdown by function of our capital expenditures for 2009.  So we had a total of 200 and approximately $24 million worth of capital additions to the utility operations in 2009.

 MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  That's good.  Thanks.

Let me just make a note of that.  Thanks.

 Then if we could go to Exhibit B5.07, here we were asking about your proposal, as I recall, to allocate the late payment penalty litigation deferral account balance to rate classes in proportion to the way you allocated late payment revenues in 2007.


We asked whether the 2007 allocation of late payment revenues was consistent with the allocation of late payment revenues in previous years.

I am just not sure I understand the implications of the answer.  The answer, as I understand, it is that prior to 2007 the weighted average number of customers was used for allocation, and in 2007 the average number of customers, without a weighting, was used.  I wonder if you could just elaborate on the difference in that approach and the impact on the allocation, the resulting impact on the allocation?

MR. TETRAULT:  My understanding of the difference in approach is that in 2004, for example, we would weight residential customers perhaps differently than how we would weight commercial or industrial customers.

And through the 2007 cost of service proceeding, we brought forward a proposal to eliminate that weighting, essentially moving to a simple average, if you will.

Then that's been methodology in place since 2007.  So we felt it was appropriate to use the most recent allocation, in terms of dealing with the disposition of the deferral dollars.

MR. MONDROW:  So the impact of that change, as I understand it, would be to allocate, relative to the old methodology, relatively more -- relatively less cost to the residential ratepayers and relatively more costs to the other rate classes?

MR. TETRAULT:  I don't know that I could say that with certainty.  As part of our work here, we didn't necessarily do a comparison between how it was done in 2004 versus 2007.  So I can't say with certainty what the impacts would be to different groups of customers.

MR. MONDROW:  Could you provide that by way of undertaking?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  JT1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.3:  to PROVIDE COMPARISON OF ALLOCATION OF LATE PAYMENT REVENUES BETWEEN RATE CLASSES BETWEEN 2004 AND 2007.

MR. MONDROW:  Maybe in that undertaking, maybe to be more efficient in the undertaking, if you want to add an explanation as to why the -- well, let me back up.  The late payment penalty litigation damages award, as it were, relates to historical late payment penalty collection.

So I would have thought that the allocation of that litigation liability would logically track the way those late payment penalties were received and allocated out back to ratepayers in the past, the theory being that the ratepayers that benefitted from those now have to return that benefit.

But it seems you have changed the allocation approach, and I would like to understand the basis for doing that, if you have an explanation that you can provide.

MR. SMITH:  Why don't we just provide that in the undertaking, our position with respect to that proposition?

MR. MONDROW:  Yes, that would be fine.  Thanks.

MR. MILLAR:  Are you satisfied that that is all one undertaking?

MR. MONDROW:  Yes, I think that would be appropriate.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Crawford (sic), there is no question as to what has been undertaken?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, Mr. Crawford is fine with that.

MR. MILLAR:  That's the first time I have ever got that wrong.

MR. MONDROW:  I did that the first time I addressed Mr. Smith, and now I pause each time just to be careful I don't do it again.  I sympathize, Mr. Millar.  Mr. Michael.

[Laughter]


MR. MONDROW:  He forgave me for it, by the way.  Presumably he will extend to you the same courtesy.

I just want to confirm something about the allocation between regulated and unregulated storage of unaccounted for gas, if I've got that acronym right.

So maybe the best way to do to is to turn to Exhibit B5.09.  That exhibit references a prefiled.  Maybe you could turn that up at the same time, which is Exhibit A, tab 4, at page 4 of that narrative evidence.

I will turn it up, too.  I was a bit confused, reading the evidence and reading this undertaking response, and indeed there is another one, I think, to VECC.  But as I understand it now, based on the interrogatory responses, the unaccounted for gas costs are allocated between regulated and unregulated storage, based in principle on the storage activity, rather than the kind of capacity.  Is that right?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's right.

MR. MONDROW:  And that's the same way, in principle, that you allocate the compressor fuel.  It is based on activity?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's right.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So I should be reading pages 4 and 5 of Exhibit A, tab 2 to effectively say that the way you allocate compressor fuel and the way you allocate unaccounted for gas is essentially the same, in principle?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Great.  So do you end up with the same, I will call them, allocation ratios?

MS. ELLIOTT:  No.  The difference is --

MR. MONDROW:  That's what confused me.

MS. ELLIOTT:  -- unaccounted for gas is a cost across the system, so it is storage and transportation.  So it is allocated to all volumes we handle, and then allocated to storage, and then allocated to unregulated storage.

For compressor fuel, we start with Dawn fuel only.  So we are starting with a cost that is already 100 percent storage.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Then just do the allocation in proportion to the unregulated activity as a proportion of the storage activity, not total activity.

MR. MONDROW:  So the result of that is that the ratio you -- the ratio for allocating total unaccounted for gas cost to unregulated storage is a smaller number, because you start with a bigger pie?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Perfect.  Thanks.

I want to come back to something that Mr. DeRose was talking to you about, if I could.  He referenced Exhibit B5.10.  This was about the time estimates for the storage support costs for the -- I guess they would be overhead or indirect allocations.

You talked about time estimates being provided at the outset of a budget cycle, but then a true-up being done based on - and I think your words were - "conversations with the various department heads".  Is that right?  Did I -- do I recall that correctly?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Is there any other kind of mechanism for tracking an adjustment, other than these conversations that you have?

MS. ELLIOTT:  No, because the allocation is based on expected level of effort.  So total budgets are done by department with an expectation of what the work will be, what the activity will be during the year, and then it is really a matter of getting an understanding of how the actual activity unfolded during the year.

Only if there was a significant change in what departments expected would we go back and look at truing up the allocations.

MR. MONDROW:  Who makes that determination of whether the change has been significant?

MS. ELLIOTT:  It is a decision that is made between the department that is incurring the costs and finance.

MR. MONDROW:  Well, does the department incurring the costs in each case tell you what the change was, and then you sit down together and make a determination of materiality?

MS. ELLIOTT:  It's probably not that clean.  It is a question of if the activity levels are significantly greater than what we expected to do.  It is really identifying areas where we are doing things that we didn't originally plan.

Sometimes those situations give rise to incremental cost.  Other times they just give rise to the need to redeploy existing resources.  So it is really a situation that manifests itself during the course of the year, as project work changes and people are dealing with things different than they had originally expected.

So it comes to us generally by way of variance explanations and incremental costs, or through resource constraints that are identified.

MR. MONDROW:  Those variance explanations, do you get those or does someone get those for all department costs, whether related to regulated or unregulated activities?  I mean, does each department have a budget, and then, if there is a variance, they have to explain that at the end of the year?  Is that how it works?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Each department has a budget, and they explain their variances to their department management during the year.  And those explanations roll up to the leadership group at Union Gas.

MR. MONDROW:  So the department manager will, at first instance, make a determination as to whether there is a true-up or a change appropriate in respect of the regulated and unregulated allocation, I assume?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's one way of getting that information to us, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Do people keep track of their time?

MS. ELLIOTT:  No.  There is not a lot of time-tracking that's been going on.  So a lot of it is expected level of effort analysis.

MR. MONDROW:  So there is no budget variance associated with an employee spending relatively more time on unregulated and relatively less time on regulated?

MS. ELLIOTT:  No.  That will manifest itself in terms of a resource allocation, issues with staffing and work getting done.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  All right.  Thanks.

MS. ELLIOTT:  The breakdown of the cost types for the unregulated O&M is actually in response to Exhibit B2.06.  It splits the various areas of activity between salary, wages, employee expense and other.

MR. MONDROW:  Yes.  Okay.  These allocations are obviously new as of 2008, the 2008 test year, right?  Because before that, you didn't have unregulated storage?

MS. ELLIOTT:  We did do an allocation in the 2007.  Basically, the cost allocation study was the basis for the '07 allocation on a forecast basis.  And then we split the results between utility and non-utility for '07 reporting.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  So the 2007 cost allocation study is relevant, because it dealt with allocating costs between storage and other activities, and presumably between in-franchise and ex-franchise storage, right?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The study itself, when it was filed, was an allocation between two C1 storage activities, and that was the service class or the operations that became unregulated.

MR. MONDROW:  Well, let's turn up Exhibit B5.07.  Sorry, B5.08.

In response to B 5.08, you filed Exhibit G3, tab 1, Schedule 1 from the EB-2005-0520 proceeding, and that is Union Gas Limited cost-allocation study description and methodology.

On the first page of that -- do you have that?  I don't want to get too far ahead.  On the first page of that, you say:

"The cost allocation study..."
This is kind of trite.
"...consists of three steps.  Functionalization of costs to utility service functions, classification of cost-to-cost incurrence, demand commodity customer, and allocation of costs to rate classes."

It is only the first of those three steps that is relevant for allocating costs between regulated and unregulated storage, right?

When you say you relied on the 2007 cost-allocation study, you relied on the functionalization step, and you built on that for the purposes of the allocations we are currently considering?

MS. ELLIOTT:  No, we actually relied on all three steps.  In addition to the functionalization to get the total storage costs, then it was important to get an understanding of whether those were demand, commodity or customer costs, and then by rate class.

It was the C1 rate class costs that became the basis of the unregulated activity.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  I will have to think about that.

Can I take you to Exhibit B8.01, please, which is an interrogatory response to School Energy Coalition?

In response to part G of School's question, you said the 2008 earnings sharing calculation included IFRS operating expenditures, consulting costs and employee costs.

Does the 2009 earnings-sharing calculation include those types of expenditures?

MS. ELLIOTT:  No.  In 2009, we obtained a deferral account for the IFRS costs, so we moved the costs into the deferral account, and credited 2009 earnings for the 2008 and the 2009 costs.

So there is a reduction in costs in 2009, as a result of the existence of the deferral account.

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, did you say that you have somehow adjusted the 2008 recovery?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  So you put costs in the deferral account?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, and reduced the '09 costs, total utility costs for '08.

MR. MONDROW:  You have reduced the '09 costs to account for the recovery of those costs in '08?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Is that broken out somewhere in the record?

MS. ELLIOTT:  No, it's not.

MR. MONDROW:  Would you provide a bit of a –-

MS. ELLIOTT:  Well, sorry.  The breakout of the costs is provided in evidence.

MR. MONDROW:  Oh, including the '08 costs?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Including the '08 costs.

MR. MONDROW:  So it is those costs that you have --

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  -- credited to ratepayers in '09, and moved into the deferral account?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And on June 25th of this year, on behalf of Union, a letter was sent to the Board.  I can find it here.

This was your corrected evidence.  For IFRS, you said that:

"Union has discovered that there were costs included in the 2009 earnings-sharing calculation related to regulatory provisions for IFRS costs."

What are regulatory provisions?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Sorry.  Those were the -- that was the accrual against the recovery of those costs.

MR. MONDROW:  The '08 costs?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.  So we removed those costs from 2009.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.
"Union has corrected the evidence, which results in an increase to the earnings-sharing amount."

So you've -- well, explain to me how it increases the earnings-sharing amount.

MS. ELLIOTT:  In the previous filing, the costs were overstated, so the earnings were understated.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Therefore the earnings-sharing amount was understated.  When we removed the costs, we increased earnings and increased the earnings-sharing amount.

MR. MONDROW:  And so -– oh, I see.  Okay.  Great.  Thanks.

A few more, if I could.  Exhibit B1.06, this is still on IFRS costs.  If you look at page 2 in response to part (b), I realize this is a small amount, but I am just really curious about it.

If I am reading this right, in '08 and '09, $49,000 worth of travel expenses associated with IFRS employees.  What was that?  Do you know?

MS. ELLIOTT:  It will be out-of-pocket travel for courses, for travel to Toronto, to Calgary, and to Houston as part of our project team.  We were working together in all three locations.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  I want to come back and ask you a couple of questions related to the allocation between regulated and unregulated storage, and I want to reference Board Staff's Interrogatory No. 14.  So it is Exhibit B1.14.

I am going to start on page 2.  I want to look at the first row on the portion of the table that is on page 2.

This table was provided quite helpfully in response to a question to kind of articulate the changes that your -- the changes between the 2007 cost-allocation study and the current allocation methodology for allocating costs between regulated and unregulated storage.

So under the existing, the preexisting or the previous methodology, if you look at the first row, there is a reference to the Dawn plant E compressor, and apparently in the past that compressor was not directly assigned to transmission.

But if I am understanding your note in column 2 on the first row, it is now directly assigned to transmission.  Am I understanding that correctly?

MS. ELLIOTT:  In the allocation to the unregulated storage, we've directly assigned where it is appropriate.  So we have directly assigned the Dawn E compression to transmission.

In the existing cost study, the horsepower allocation would have reflected the horsepower of that compressor, being transmission, but the factor would be applied to the pool of assets.

When we were doing the change, we needed an accounting on an asset-by-asset basis, because we want our system of accounts to have identifiable assets, not pieces of assets that don't make sense.

So where the asset was directly identifiable related to the transmission function in this case, it was assigned to transmission, and then we only allocated those shared storage and transmission assets.

MR. MONDROW:  Yes.  But if you look at the first column on the first row, at the beginning it says:
"Certain assets (specific structures, measuring and regulating and compression assets) in the Dawn Station yard are installed solely for transmission purposes..."


As you have just described that, that was the case for the Dawn plant E compressor, so is this just a correction of a -- "mistake" is perhaps too strong a word, but is it just a correction from a direct assignment or direct allocation for the Dawn E -- the Dawn plant E compressor that should have occurred even under the old methodology?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I wouldn't classify it as a correction, but more of a refinement to the calculation, because the horsepower was allocated to transmission, just not the identifiable asset.

MR. MONDROW:  So I think what you are saying is the result was the same, but you are now refining, in respect of this particular piece of plant, how you get there; fair?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, that's fine.

I wanted to ask you a question about this, because this comes up a couple of times in the allocation methodology, the allocation of compression-related assets by horsepower, as I understand it.

And I think that is because the horsepower to transmit gas is a higher level than the horsepower required to inject or withdraw gas.  Have I got that right?

MR. TETRAULT:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So when you allocate this equipment based on horsepower, is it the case that you take the horsepower rating on the equipment and that number dictates whether it is allocated to storage or transmission?

MR. TETRAULT:  What you have really in the horsepower allocator is, per the cost study, all of our horsepower, if you will, and it is defined there either as storage or transmission horsepower.  But then in terms of functionalizing compression-related assets in the cost study, we look at the total horsepower allocation between storage and transmission.

MR. MONDROW:  So you don't do it on an asset-by-asset basis?

MR. TETRAULT:  No.

MR. MONDROW:  You allocate the assets to pools depending on their horsepower rating to start with?

MR. TETRAULT:  You allocate costs between the transmission and storage functions based on the total weighting of horsepower, which is built up of all of the individual compressors.

MR. MONDROW:  I don't understand that at all, sorry.

MR. KITCHEN:  Why don't I jump in here a bit, just because I have had the privilege of talking about horsepower far too often?

The horsepower allocation allocates horsepower between storage and transmission, based on the horsepower requirements on peak day, to take gas from up to 700 pounds, which is classified as storage, and from 700 pounds up to 895, which is classified as transmission.

Each asset within the horsepower allocation, when you look at how that asset is being used, it goes into an overall -- an overall average amount of horsepower required to do that.

So to the extent that you identify within the horsepower allocation assets that are -- or compressors that are entirely there for storage or entirely there for transmission, some compressors will be used for both, and the dividing line between storage and transmission is that 700-pound cut-off.

So you don't look at the -- is not the individual horsepower rating of the compressor.  It is how that compressor is used in bringing the gas up to 700 pounds, and then from 700 pounds to 895.

MR. MONDROW:  And it is only the latter -- the costs associated with the latter portion that gets allocated to transmission?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's how that percentage is determined, and that is what would go to transmission, you're right.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  Okay, that helps.  Thank you.

Could we look at Exhibit B1.17, please?  And I am looking at the attachment.  You had some discussion earlier with Mr. DeRose -- or Mr. Buonaguro, I think, actually, about storage assets existing at the time of the initial split between regulated and unregulated, and how you determined what an existing asset -- storage asset was.

As I understand your evidence, there are only two storage pools that have been added since deregulation, as it were, of the competitive storage function, and those are the Black Creek at line 4 and the Heritage at line 15; is that right?

MS. ELLIOTT:  It is actually only the Heritage at line 15 that is new --

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.

MS. ELLIOTT:  -- on this list.

MR. MONDROW:  So explain to me why the Black Creek has no allocation value?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Black Creek is a storage pool owned by Enbridge.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So you just expense the cost of use of that storage?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The genesis of the Black Creek pool goes back a number of years.  At the time the pool was developed, Union had some ownership or some interest in it.  We retained the native gas, and Enbridge took the pool and developed it.

So we pay Enbridge to use the space, but we actually have native gas in the pool.

MR. MONDROW:  When you say you pay Enbridge to use the space, this is dealt with I think elsewhere in the evidence.  There is an allocation of what you call third party storage fees as to unregulated?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  That's the payment you're talking about?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  That's fine, thanks.

But am I right that, taking out line 15 the Heritage, if someone wanted to see a list of the existing storage facilities existing at the time of the split, this list would provide -- this list minus item 15 is a list of the storage wells existing at the time of the split?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Sorry, that was an inelegant way to put it, but thanks.

I want to ask you a question about the KPMG study on this allocation, or facilitative document - I think you called it something like that - the report on this allocation issue, which is filed in response to Exhibit B2.05.

I am going to apologize in advance, because I still don't fully understand this part of the document, but I think I understand it enough to ask you a question.

If you look at page 23, which deals with the allocation of overhead costs between regulated and unregulated storage, there is a bit of an undetermined result reflected in this section of the document.  There are three options or three approaches provided for allocation, and the document reflects that Union is studying these options, but there is a recommendation on page 26 that, in the interim, the third of the options described should be used.

Is that what you are using?  And the third approach or option is outlined starting in the middle of page 25.

MS. ELLIOTT:  I believe that is correct.  I will undertake to read this in more detail and get back to you, if that is not true.

MR. MONDROW:  Sure.  That's fine.  We don't take need an undertaking.  Let's take it as correct, and you will advise us if it is otherwise, if that's okay.

MR. SMITH:  That's fine.

MR. MONDROW:  Thanks.  Actually, I think that is it.  Just give me one minute, if you could.

Yes.  Thank you very much.  I appreciate it.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.  Ms. Girvan, I see you anxious to get your oar in the water.

MS. GIRVAN:  I actually just have one question, and I have to leave shortly, so I would prefer to go ahead, if that is okay.
Questions by Ms. Girvan:

MS. GIRVAN:  If you could just turn to CCC No. 2, which is B2.2, please?

In this question, we were asking for a detailed explanation as to why the balances, which is the storage revenue, are significantly above the Board-approved levels.

What I was looking more for was a narrative of what happened.  The variances are significant, and I would just like to get a more detailed explanation as to why these activities are so much greater than the Board-approved levels.

MS. ELLIOTT:  The narrative really would come from the explanations.

So I mean the most significant variance comes in long-term peak storage and high-deliverability storage, and that's a combination of the increases in the capacity that we have developed during the period and the increase in the prices for the space that's being sold.

MS. GIRVAN:  So you can't provide any more detail than that?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I certainly don't have more detail than that, no.

MS. GIRVAN:  So can you explain to me what's happened with high-deliverability storage since 2007?

MS. ELLIOTT:  We invested significant dollars in capital expansion to increase the deliverability of Dawn, and sold those services.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And the same with the long-term storage, is that -- can you tell me what happened there?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The long-term, there will be increases in the space as a result of the development that has gone on since 2007, as well as a price increase.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  All right.  Thank you very much.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, MS. Girvan.

Who would like to go next?  Mr. Aiken?
Questions by Mr. Aiken:

MR. AIKEN:  Since nobody else is jumping in, I will make some waves.

I want to start with IFRS.  Exhibit A, tab 1, page 21, Table 5 shows the IFRS conversion costs by year.

And the total is about $4 million.  My first question is:  Are there going to be additional costs in 2010 and '11 and '12?  And if so, do you know approximately how much they are?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Sorry, could you give me the page reference again?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, it's Exhibit A, tab 1, page 21.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Thank you.

There will likely be some additional costs in 2010 related to our audit and review of the IFRS financials, as well as 2011.

Those will start -- or those will start to be embedded in our ongoing costs, obviously, because IFRS financials in 2011 will be what the auditors audit.  But to the extent that they're auditing or reviewing both current Canadian GAAP statements as well as IFRS work in 2010, there will be some incremental audit costs, and there may be some additional employee expenses as we wind up the project.

I don't have estimates of those, but they won't likely be probably in the -- less than $100,000.

MR. AIKEN:  That's what I was going to ask.  Fine.

If you keep that table in front of you and then maybe turn up the response to Board Staff B1.06, this relates –- sorry, part C of that response, which is on page 3 of B1.06, the system upgrade costs which are also shown in table 5 that we were just looking at.

And you indicate here that these conversion costs are capital expenditures; is that correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  So Union is then requesting the recovery of both operating expenses and these capital costs through the deferral account?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  I guess my question is:  Why are you asking for the recovery of the capital costs, rather than the revenue requirement of those capital costs on a year-to-year basis?

MS. ELLIOTT:  It is really an issue of administrative simplicity, in terms of getting recovery of the costs as they're incurred, rather than maintaining a deferral account for a five-year period that deals with the annual cost of owning and operating this system.

MR. AIKEN:  Do you have an estimate or do you have an estimate that you could provide through an undertaking that would show the impact on the 2008 and 2009 deferral balances if you used the capital expenditures to calculate the revenue-requirement impact of those expenditures?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The simple answer to that question is for 2008 and 2009, that was all work-in-progress.  So the asset and the revenue requirement calculation would begin in 2010.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So the request would be reduced by 1.4 million, and essentially deferred to 2010?

MS. ELLIOTT:  With a recovery of 1.4 million, plus interest in return over the next -– essentially, it would be six years, from 2010 through --

MR. AIKEN:  That's the five-year depreciation period for the software?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.  It is a four-year depreciation but half year -- in year 1 and the end.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.

Now, previously in Board Staff B1.06, it talks about the employee costs.  And am I correct that there is only one position from Spectra Houston included in these costs?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.  Part of one position.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  Are there any other affiliated costs included in any of the IFRS-related costs?

MS. ELLIOTT:  No.

MR. AIKEN:  How was the allocation of the Spectra part-time employee done to Union?  The response says an allocation of this employee's costs was charged to the project in 2008 and 2009.

MS. ELLIOTT:  I will need to confirm, but I would suspect it is a one-third allocation between Houston, Calgary and Chatham.

MR. AIKEN:  It's not too often you hear Chatham mentioned with Houston and Calgary, other than for Union Gas, of course.

And for anybody who doesn't know, I live in Chatham, so...

[Laughter]

MR. MONDROW:  That's Chatham, Ontario?

MR. AIKEN:  That's right.

Mr. Mondrow asked you about the travel expenses, the 49,000.  Is that also the one-third allocation of travel expenses for the project in total?  In other words, have these -- those expenses been allocated one-third, as well?

MS. ELLIOTT:  No.  These are travel expenses of Chatham employees travelling to Toronto, Calgary, Houston, and any locations for training.

MR. AIKEN:  Did anybody from Houston or Calgary travel to Chatham for training?

[Laughter]

MS. ELLIOTT:  Actually, yes, but they would have incurred their own costs at their own location.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  I will move on to the response to Exhibit B1.14.  And Mr. Mondrow touched on this.  I want to walk through it in a little bit more detail in some of the areas he didn't touch on.

This is the differences between the proposed cost allocation from the 2007 study.

On the first page, the two items, cost of gas related, compressor and unaccounted for gas, are the only differences between what you did and what you are doing is that one was based on a forecast volume and what you are currently doing is based on actual costs?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  And when you come back in to rebase, whenever that will be, I am assuming that you will be using a forecast to allocate or to determine what the regulated costs are going forward?

MR. TETRAULT:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.

On page 2, the existing underground storage assets, I think I understand the response you gave to Ian on the first set of numbers.

On the second comparison, my understanding is that the percentage has increased.  The percentage allocated to storage has increased from 44.4 percent to 52.7 percent.

Now, is that primarily because of removing Dawn from the 44.4 percent and not being included in the 52.7 percent, the Dawn compressor plant E?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's the primary driver of the shift.  There will be an impact on some of what we refer to as outboard compression, as well.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  On page 3, the first set of comparisons shows a slight reduction in the amount of measuring and regulating equipment allocated from 10.2 percent to 9.9.  I don't have any questions there.

But then on the second set of boxes, the storage, land, land rights, et cetera, there isn't a percentage shown for the 2007 methodology, but there is 37.7 percent for the revised, and I was wondering, is there a number that you can provide that would be comparable to the 37.7?

MR. TETRAULT:  I think, Mr. Aiken, it is in evidence.  It is in a tab 4 schedule.  Let me find it.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.

MR. TETAULT:  The comparable factors are on tab 4, schedule 2.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.

MR. TETRAULT:  Essentially on lines 1 and 2.

MR. MONDROW:  Is that explained at page 22 of the narrative, Exhibit A, tab 4 -- sorry, page 7 of the narrative, Exhibit A, tab 4?

MR. TETRAULT:  Page 7?

MR. MONDROW:  Yes, lines 6 through 12?

MR. TETRAULT:  Yes, it is.

MR. MONDROW:  This factor appears again and again in the allocation.

MR. TETRAULT:  Yes, it does.

MR. MONDROW:  Thanks.  Sorry, Randy.

MR. AIKEN:  No problem.

My next question is on Exhibit B4.18, and I guess you can refer to the original or to the corrected one that you handed out this morning, but my understanding of what you are saying here is that the in-franchise storage space is 91.8 petaJoules, and that is derived from the regulated storage capacity of 100 less the system integrity of 9.7, plus space deemed unavailable of 1.5.

My question is:  What is space deemed unavailable?

MR. TETRAULT:  I don't know that I have a lot of details I can provide, but my understanding is we have a pool that is perhaps not performing as well as anticipated.

MR. AIKEN:  And so why is that allocated to the in-franchise storage space?

MR. TETRAULT:  I believe it goes back to the -- to NGEIR, Randy, and a schedule that was presented at that time.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.

MR. TETRAULT:  I don't have much more in terms of details than that.

MR. AIKEN:  Could you undertake to provide a reference to the schedule number where I could find that?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Randy, while the space may be part of the 100 pJs, the costs of the total storage are allocated between regulated and unregulated.  So it is not an assignment of costs to the unregulated storage.

It's part of the 100 pJs, but the costs are split between regulated and unregulated.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  That was going to be my next question, Pat.  Can you tell me how the allocation was done of that cost?

MS. ELLIOTT:  It's not a specifically identified cost.  So to the extent the pool is part of the pool that -- pools that are split, that allocation will be in proportion to the rest of the shared pools.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.

On the system integrity, is there system integrity costs allocated to the unregulated space?  Is this the 0.347 million in the corrected response we got this morning?

MR. TETRAULT:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And how is that number determined?  It just seems like it is maybe 3 percent of the total cost.

MR. TETRAULT:  That percent or that figure is directly from the 2007 cost study.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Back to now Exhibit B7.05, I think this was touched on earlier, but in Exhibit A, tab 2 on page 9, there is a mention of $400,000 for the 2008 utility sharing calculation that didn't take place.

My question is:  Can you explain how that $400,000 would result in the $334 million shown in this response -- or, sorry, the $334,000 shown in this response?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I don't have a calculator with me, but we were in 90/10 earnings sharing in 2008, so I am thinking that it is approximately 90 percent of the 400,000.

MR. AIKEN:  Well, 90 percent of $400,000 would be $360,000.

MS. ELLIOTT:  It could be just rounding.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  The $400,000 could be a rounded number?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then my final questions are on the response to B8.01, Schools, part (g), in particular.

The question was:
"Please confirm that none of the 2008 IFRS costs were included in the Applicant's expenses for the calculation of 2008 earnings sharing."


The response is that:
"The 2008 earnings sharing calculation included IFRS Operating expenditures (consulting costs and employee costs)."


So I just wanted to confirm that these are the figures -- two of the three sets of figures shown on table 5 that we started off with.

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So what this response indicates to me is that the 2008 earnings sharing was underestimated?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Costs were higher, so the earnings were reduced, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  What would have been the impact on the 2008 earnings sharing -- I guess it would be 90 percent of the total of those two costs?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.

Those are all of my questions.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.  I would like to get a sense of time.  It is about quarter after 12:00 now.  We have at least two or three parties, maybe more, who want to ask questions.  So let me go around the room just to get some time indications.

Mr. Quinn, how much did you have?

MR. QUINN:  About an hour.

MR. MILLAR:  About an hour?  Okay.  Mr. Ryder?

MR. RYDER:  About five minutes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Mr. Gruenbauer?

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Half an hour.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. MacIntosh?  Nothing, or five minutes?  Nothing?  Okay.

Mr. Ryder, do you want to ask yours?  Maybe we can get you done before lunch, and then maybe we will break for the lunch hour.
Questions by Mr. Ryder:

MR. RYDER:  Thank you.

I had one question on the St. Clair pipeline.

In the decision of the Board of November 27, 2009, it did an analysis of the facts that applied to the no-harm test.

My question is:  Has there been any change since then with respect to the facts that the Board took into account?

MR. KITCHEN:  Do you have a reference?

MR. RYDER:  Yes.  It is EB-2008-0411, and I think around paragraph 64 onwards, the Board -- between 64 and 75, the Board deals with the impact of removing the asset from rate base, the impact on the customers.

It addresses the facts that, I guess, were put into evidence at that time, in November of 2009.

MR. SMITH:  I don't think that is quite right, Mr. Ryder, because paragraph 64 deals with the cost award.  Well, sorry...

MR. RYDER:  I think you are dealing with a
different –-

MR. SMITH:  422 -– 411 -- I don't have a copy.

MR. RYDER:  I am dealing with EB-2008-0411.  Can I leave the decision with you, and you can perhaps give me an undertaking to answer that?

MR. SMITH:  Your question is to identify changes in the no-harm test?

MR. RYDER:  Changes in the facts that the Board took into account when it was applying the no-harm test.

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MR. KITCHEN:  We will undertake to provide that, but I don't think there are any changes in facts.

MR. RYDER:  Okay, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  We will give that an undertaking.  Mr. Smith, have we given out a JT1.4 yet?  Or is that the next one?  I think 1.4 is the next one, so somebody can correct me over the lunch break if I have missed one.  Okay.  JT1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.4:  To Identify changes in facts the Board took into account when applying the no-harm test.

MR. RYDER:  Thank you.

Now, I just have a question with respect to the allocation of storage to the in-franchise.  It was raised by the Kitchener Interrogatory B6.06.

MS. ELLIOTT:  We have that.

MR. RYDER:  All right.  You can see that you forecasted -- based on your forecast, your plans for the winter of 2010 and 2011 allocated 89.7.  And then for 2009 and 2010, you allocated 90.5 pJs.  Right?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. RYDER:  I take it that the cost of the difference to 100 pJs is also allocated to the in-franchise?

MS. ELLIOTT:  No.  There was a forecast in 2007 that set rates.  So the full 100 pJ -- the cost of the full 100 pJs are not allocated to the in-franchise customers.

That is the 2.3 charge that we've picked up in the unregulated storage operations.

So what is approximately 8 pJs of space in the '07 forecast being used in the unregulated operation, those costs are part of the unregulated part of the operation.  So I think there was about 92 pJs of costs in the 2007 rates.

MR. TETRAULT:  Which is the basis for cost-based storage rates.

MR. RYDER:  So we are not being allocated the costs of the full 100 pJs?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's right.

MR. RYDER:  All right.  But the difference between the -- what we are forecasted to need and the 100 pJs, that is used for revenue purposes.  It is used for the short-term storage –- sorry, did you hear that?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.  The difference between the 100 pJs and whatever the in-franchise customers use is sold short-term and subject to deferral in the short-term deferral account.

MR. RYDER:  All right.  Is that credited in the short-term deferral account, is it all credited to the in-franchise customers?

MS. ELLIOTT:  It's about 79 percent allocated to the in-franchise customers.

MR. RYDER:  What's the basis for that?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That was part of the Board's NGEIR decision.

MR. RYDER:  All right.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Sorry, it is 90 percent times 79 percent, so I think the answer is about 71 percent.

MR. RYDER:  You say I will find that in NGEIR?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. RYDER:  All right.  Thank you.  That's it for me.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Ryder.

I am proposing we break for lunch now.  It is about 25 after 12:00.  Any objections to that?

MR. SMITH:  Well, I don't object, Mr. Millar, to lunch.  But I do think that the end is in sight, so I do want to have a brief lunch.

And I understand Mr. Gruenbauer has some questions.  Ordinarily, I would prefer that one party ask -- the questions are asked by one counsel or one representative on behalf of a party.

So if they haven't prepared that way, that's fine.  I do want to put people on notice subsequently, though.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I should warn you that Staff may or may not have questions left and they may be asked by two Staff members, so I apologize in advance if that happens.

MR. SMITH: Consider yourself warned.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  Is an hour okay?  I mean we could just --

MR. SMITH:  Well, 45 minutes?

MR. MILLAR:  Does anyone object to 45 minutes?  Why don't we come back at quarter after 1:00?

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  That's great.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:22 p.m.

--- Upon resuming at 1:13 p.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Why don't we get started again?  Who wants to go next?

MR. RYDER:  Can I add something in response to Mr. Smith's observation?  I don't know where he gets his knowledge of the Board's procedures in technical conferences, but we don't accept his restrictions on us, and until told otherwise by a Board order, we are going to split our questions from now on until the end of time in technical conferences.

And it is better for technical conferences, because, you know, these are for us, not for Union.  Therefore, it is for our benefit, and it is better we get our questions straight.  And that means, very often, we have to split them up.  Thanks.  I thought I would let you know, Crawford.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  I will govern myself accordingly.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Who would like to go next with the questions?  Mr. Quinn.
Questions by Mr. Quinn:


MR. QUINN:  Yes.  Thank you.  Good afternoon, panel.  I think the best way of doing this is I will start with the FRPO interrogatories, if you would turn those up.  I did want to go back to some questions that I had in response to the dialogue that went back and forth this morning, but I deferred based upon one person at a time, also.

So if we start with FRPO interrogatory B4.02, do you have that?

MR. TETRAULT:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  In the request I was asking for:
"...define the service described in the following and provide the percentage deliverability associated with the service and the reason for the allocation of its revenues to Long-Term Peak Storage Services."


I have an apt description I believe of each, and your response indicated there was 1.2 to 10 percent, depending on contracts, but obviously you had to go through a process of some level of allocation.  So I was asking, again -- I want to ask again:  Can I get the percentage that is currently allocated in rates, and how is that done - so to the respective high deliverability, T1 deliverability and upstream balancing - so for each of the individual components?

MR. TETRAULT:  Dwayne, just so I understand, you are looking for the allocation of revenue for each of those services in rates?

MR. QUINN:  I am looking for the percentage deliverability that is associated with each of those respective categories, and then how does that find itself, then, into rates, because the allocators you are using from that, I believe, from what I am understanding in this response -- but if I am wrong, tell me how that deliverability is used to determine the allocation into rates.  So start, first off, with the deliverability, the percentage deliverability to each of those respective components of long-term peak storage services.

MR. KITCHEN:  I think the answer is pretty clear, Dwayne.  The deliverability that is required for those services is between 1.2 percent and 10 percent.

The amount that is used within each service depends on the customers that contract for the service and what they need.

MR. QUINN:  In aggregate, then, if you take all of those customers -- I don't need to know the customer names and how much they get, but, in aggregate, how much is high deliverability storage, what amount of deliverability is associated with that, what amount of deliverability is associated with T1 deliverability, and so on, in aggregate?

MR. KITCHEN:  As the answer says, the aggregate amount is allocated to those -- that is used by those services is between 1.2 and 10 percent.

In terms of the allocation and what is in rates, these are all unregulated services, so there is no allocation from the point of view of what is in rates.  The rates are market-based.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. TETRAULT:  These are services developed as a result of the NGEIR decision.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I will accept the way the market -- the rate is made from a market point of view, but I would like to still know the percentage of deliverability associated with each.  You have an aggregated deliverability for ex-franchise services, but it isn't broken down into these respective categories.

MR. KITCHEN:  I am not sure we can, because, again, it depends on what the customer contracts for and wants when they buy the service.

MR. QUINN:  But as of the end of 2009 as an example, T1 deliverability, over and above what is embedded in their rates, what percentage of deliverability is associated with T1 deliverability?  That is a number you would have.  It is just a case of accumulating additional T1 deliverability.

MR. KITCHEN:  I guess what we can do is we can see what we have, but I am not sure you will get any other answer than what I have given.

MR. QUINN:  Well, it is a fairly simple question.

MR. KITCHEN:  I guess what I am saying is we will see what we have, but at this point, I don't know what we have available until I check.  I can't give you any more of an answer than what I have given.

MR. QUINN:  Well, sum of the parts should equal the whole.  You have provided us the whole of what deliverability is allocated to long-term storage services.  I am saying, Break it out and show us.  This is an allocation where you are doing cost allocations from both in-franchise and ex-franchise services.

MS. ELLIOTT:  No, no.  These are new services that have come into effect after the NGEIR decision.  So the cost of providing those services is 100 percent allocated.  It is directly assigned to the unregulated storage.  So there is no allocation of existing assets related to these new services.

These services didn't exist in 2007.  The capacity to provide them didn't exist in 2007, and the incremental cost to provide the service is directly assigned to the unregulated storage operation.

MR. QUINN:  Well, in your answer, then, maybe you could show us how that is broken out, because T1 deliverability, if somebody had 2 percent deliverability in their contract before, and, as a result of NGEIR, they went back to 1.2 percent, that storage was -- that deliverability was still provided by the same assets.  It is just where -- how it was being charged for.

So you have the same assets.  You now have allocated some of the deliverability capability of those assets to your long-term peak storage services.  So you have allocated storage, in terms of allocating the deliverability capability into your long-term storage services.

So there has to be some -- this isn't all new storage in 2008.  It just didn't appear when somebody went down from 2 percent down to 1.2 percent.  That was a reallocation from what they had a right in their contract to what they had to move down to as a result of the decision.

MS. ELLIOTT:  All the revenues and all of the services are the result of new investment.  So when we are talking about high deliverability storage and T1 deliverability, that is all incremental, as a result of incremental investment.

MR. QUINN:  What happened, then, to the deliverability that was embedded in rates previously, and if a T1 customer -- we will focus on that.  If a T1 customer had 2 percent deliverability and, as a result the NGEIR decision, went down to 1.2 percent because that was the standard storage offer and that is what was embedded in their contract, where did that incremental deliverability go?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Any deliverability that existed on the system in 2007 is still charged to the -- allocated between the in-franchise and ex-franchise customers.  The services that we have assigned to long-term storage and the revenues that we have assigned here are all incremental activities.  And the costs to provide those services are directly assigned to this.

So the existing rates, the existing deliverability, is part of the allocation of the existing assets.

MR. QUINN:  So show me the allocations, then, of where that ex-franchise -- incremental ex-franchise deliverability, where did it go in the case of that one T1 customer?  I am just using that to try to make this simpler.  Where did that go?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I am not sure that I can answer the question in terms of one specific customer.

MR. QUINN:  Then answer it as a class, a pool.  So for all of the T1 deliverability in your 2007 cost study, you had a certain amount of deliverability associated with that that made rates for the T1 rate class.  After NGEIR, everybody is supposed to get 1.2 percent.  So the incremental deliverability went somewhere.

Show us where it went, in terms of asset capability and how it is being charged out in rates.  You said it went to the ex-franchise rates.

MS. ELLIOTT:  No, sorry.  There was no change in the 2007 rates.  So to the extent that the 2007 rates were based on the 2007 cost allocation and the deliverability requirement at the time, to my knowledge, I don't think there has been a change in rates.

So it hasn't gone anywhere.

MR. QUINN:  So the rates haven't gone anywhere, but the amount of deliverability that the in-franchise customers get has been decreased as a result of the decision?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's outside my area of understanding.

MR. KITCHEN:  What we will do, I think, is we will just -- we will undertake to provide an answer to the question you posed earlier, which is just before Ms. Elliott spoke.

And I think that is probably the best way to handle this, Dwayne.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I would like a subsequent follow-up, then, if you are going to take that undertaking.  I would like the answer to that question, because as I am getting clarification from Ms. Elliott, I say the T1 pool had a certain amount of deliverability associated with it prior to NGEIR, and that is on the record.  Post-NGEIR, it went down to 1.2 percent.

Where did the extra deliverability capability go?  And how do we ensure there's proper cost causality associated with that?

So can you take that as a second part of that undertaking?  Or do you want a separate one?

MR. SMITH:  I understood it as the same question.  We will answer that question.

MR. QUINN:  Which question?

MR. SMITH:  The one you just posed.  I didn't see
it --


MR. KITCHEN:  I don't see any difference between the way you asked the question the first time or the second time.

MR. SMITH:  So we will answer them.

MR. KITCHEN:  We'll answer them.

MR. QUINN:  Then I am going to go painfully slow here, so there isn't any miscommunication and we come back with supplementary undertakings.

Ms. Elliott, what did you understand the question to be?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Sorry, you are outside my area of understanding –-

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Mr. Kitchen --


MS. ELLIOTT:  -- so I am hoping somebody else understood the question.

MR. QUINN:  Would it be appropriate that you would tell me what you understand my question is?

MR. KITCHEN:  We will undertake to provide you with the indication as to what happened to the deliverability associated with T1, the T1 rate class subsequent to the Board's finding around the allocation of storage and deliverability to T1 customers.

It may not be exactly as you said it, but I think that is what you are looking for.

MR. QUINN:  There is two parts to it.  One is the capability of the assets, and then how did you affect cost causality in proportion to the new reality.  That is what I thought your 2007 cost study was to do, is to allocate between what remained as in-franchise and what became non-utility.

So if you can give us a calculation that describes that, that would be helpful.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Quinn, are you satisfied with the description Mr. Kitchen gave of the undertaking?  Because I want the record to be clear on this.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  I think I am, to the extent I don't know that I can improve it, I heard it, and it seemed to be responsive.  So thank you for that.  I appreciate it.

MR. MILLAR:  We will call that Undertaking JT1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.5:  To Explain effect on deliverability associated with T1 rate class subsequent to the Board's finding on allocation of storage and deliverability to T1 customers.

MR. MONDROW:  Can I just ask something about that, please, to avoid coming back later?

Ms. Elliott, I understood you to say that the non-regulated services in which these features listed in Exhibit B4.02 are embedded, are all being provided, from an accounting perspective, by assets developed post-separation.  And that there were no -- there are no preexisting assets being used to deliver these services.

Was that what you said?

MS. ELLIOTT:  These are all new services after the NGEIR decision.  And in order to provide them, we have had to incur incremental costs, and those incremental costs have been directly assigned to the unregulated services.

MR. MONDROW:  And is there any allocation of costs associated with preexisting assets, for the purpose of providing these unregulated services?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The existing assets were allocated using the 2007 cost study.  So to the extent that the existing assets were designed and capable of providing the services that existed at 2007, that is the starting point for the allocation.

So the existing assets were allocated, and then incrementally all new assets were assigned to unregulated storage.  There's been no change in the allocation of the existing assets.

MR. MONDROW:  And are the existing assets being used to provide these unregulated services?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I don't know that I can specifically answer that.  I know the existing assets on their own were not capable of providing these services, so the costs we incurred in order to provide the new services were incrementally assigned.  So the incremental revenue and incremental cost are both in the unregulated operations.

MR. MONDROW:  I had understood Mr. Quinn to be trying to determine whether there should be an allocation of the costs associated with preexisting assets to these services.

And so if that is -- if the undertaking captures that, then we will wait for the undertaking response.

MS. ELLIOTT:  The preexisting assets were allocated on a one-time basis and haven't been -– basically, it was a deemed disposition transaction at that point.  And then on a go-forward basis, new costs are -- are being directly assigned.

There isn't an ongoing shift of costs back and forth between the regulated -- the preexisting costs between the regulated and unregulated activities.

MR. MONDROW:  No, I understand that.  I understand your information on that.

I guess what I have been hearing is that these are all new services.  And the question left in my mind from the discussion you were having with Mr. Quinn was whether these new services are in any way being -- new post-separation services and post-allocation services, 2007 allocation, whether any of these new services are being provided using preexisting assets.

I took that as the thrust of his question.  So -- perhaps Mr. Smith or Mr. Kitchen -- will that be dealt with in your understanding in the undertaking response?

MS. ELLIOTT:  You are looking to determine whether there was existing capacity in the existing assets to provide the service?

MR. MONDROW:  If the existing assets are being used, presumably there was -- some sort of preexisting capacity is being utilized.  The costs associated with that preexisting capacity need to be allocated to the right place.  If these are competitive services, those costs need to be allocated to the unregulated business.  I think that is what Mr. Quinn was pursuing.

I just want to make sure from my client's perspective that we get that information at the end of the day.

MR. KITCHEN:  The answer we give will need to address the issue you raised.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, that's fine.  Thank you.

Thank you, Dwayne.  Sorry.

MR. QUINN:  No problem.  That is enhanced clarification to make sure we are all talking the same thing.  Thanks, Ian.

And in that regard -- and this may be helpful going forward, because I hear 2007 cost study.  When you are referring to 2007 cost study, Ms. Elliott, are you referring to the cost allocation study that was done in 2005 for the purposes of setting rates in 2007?  Or are you talking about the additional study for the separation of assets between non-utility and utility?

MR. TETRAULT:  Mr. Quinn, we're talking about the Board-approved 2007 cost allocation study.

MR. QUINN:  So the -2005-0520 or whatever --


MR. TETRAULT:  Related to that proceeding, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Related to that proceeding, so we are on the same frame of reference.  What do you call your subsequent study, when you were separating allocations between utility and non-utility?  What do you call that study, so I can make sure I use the right term?

MS. ELLIOTT:  We used the existing 2007 Board-approved cost study.  We didn't do another cost study.

In the NGEIR, the decision, the Board determined that the 2007 approved cost study was appropriate, an appropriate basis for allocation.  So we used that study to allocate the existing assets.

Subsequent to that, each incremental asset has been directly assigned to the unregulated.  There is no study, in terms of what the allocation is.

MR. QUINN:  For UFG as an example, UFG is still the same as the Board-approved cost study, independent of the fact you have added assets in the interim?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Sorry, UFG is same allocation basis; it is volumetric.  Instead of forecast volumes, we use actual volumes, actual UFG as a percentage of total activity.

MR. QUINN:  We are going to get to UFG, and I'm going to walk through that more carefully, but I want to differentiate the cost study of 2007 with any allocation methodologies that you are coming to the Board for approval at this time.

So do you have a list of allocation methodologies that you are coming for approval at this time?

MS. ELLIOTT:  We used the existing approved methodologies.  We applied those methodologies to the '07 actual assets, and in some cases we have updated the factors, because we're using actual results and actual activity, but the methodology that we're using is the same methodology that underpinned the C1 storage allocation in the '07 approved cost study.

MR. QUINN:  So those differences are all captured, then, in that Board Staff interrogatory.  Was it 1.14, the table?  Is that what you're saying?  Those are the only changes?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.

Interrogatory 4.03, and this may just be I am not understanding your answer, so I will try to give you the floor in terms of helping me understand this.

I am asking for reconciliation of these rebates as designed and how they were actually disbursed.  I am seeing in the answer in your second sentence of your response:
"In 2007 and 2008 the deferral disposition was processed prospectively; there were no amounts captured in this account."


Can you give me in layman's terms what it is you are saying there?

MS. ELLIOTT:  This account dates back to when we did deferral disposition on a retroactive basis.  So we would send out refunds to customers to addresses where they were no longer there, and we would get the cheques returned.  So to the extent we weren't able to locate a customer, the amounts went into this account.

Since we started disposing of the deferral accounts prospectively, we don't have that issue.  We send bills to customers at their location.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, that is better clarity.  Thank you.

This one I think would be different, though, 4.04.  It says there is a credit balance of $7.6 million in 179-102.  Then enhanced in bold or underlined under your response, it says:
"Any balance accumulated in the Intra-Period WACOG deferral account prior to delivery rates being adjusted shall be disposed as part of the annual deferral account disposition proceeding."


Which is the proceeding we're currently in?

MR. TETRAULT:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  So there was a $7.615 million balance.  Where is that being allocated?

MR. TETRAULT:  Well, just to be clear, we are proposing to dispose of that balance in this proceeding.  And I believe in evidence there is a schedule or table that shows the allocation of that disposition to classes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So it would be allocated to different classes.  Now you have closed the account?

MR. TETRAULT:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  December 31st.

MR. TETRAULT:  Per the Board's decision in the 0106 proceeding.

MR. QUINN:  So any future allocations that would have historically gone into this account, where do they go now?

MR. TETRAULT:  Starting with January 2010, we are updating the cost of gas in delivery rates for compressor fuel, UFG and the carry on inventory on a quarterly basis.

So going forward, starting in 2010, there will no longer be any variance as there would have been associated with the deferral account in the past.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  That is sufficient.  I appreciate that.

Okay.  In FRPO interrogatory B4.05, you produced the tables, I appreciate.  You provided an attachment number 2 that indicates the net revenues and estimated operating costs.

In 2008 and 2009, your capital taxes decreased quite significantly on a proportional basis.  Can you give me the reasons why it decreased that amount?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's the result of the change in capital tax legislation.

MR. QUINN:  It's a legislated change?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  That would reduce that amount, okay.  Thank you.

Now, this might take a little longer, but if you could turn up Exhibit B -- actually, I am going to go to B4.08, and then come back to .07 after that, because I need to get a frame of reference.

The question I was posing is:
"What unit of measure is used to calculate storage activity?"

And I understand that you are saying gJs, but I want to know how that is measured.  What are you talking about in terms of gJs, space, throughput, deliverability?  Tell me what it is you are measuring for storage activity?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Injections and withdrawals.

MR. QUINN:  So it is a presumed one injection, one withdrawal, or actual?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Actual.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So then turning back to 4.07, this I would much prefer to come as an undertaking, because I guess the question I was asking you provided some components, but my first request was:
"...provide a specific description with some key figures to describe the allocation of fuel gas to the unregulated storage operations."


So can you, by way of undertaking, present us the calculation?  So show us where -- how you came up with those determinants of, in storage, saying in and out injection?  Is transportation just purely throughput?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.  Transportation is just basically the volume handled.

MR. QUINN:  Volume handled through all pipelines, through Dawn Trafalgar system?

MS. ELLIOTT:  For UFG, it is through our whole system, so it is transmission, distribution, and then storage is in and out of Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  So how do you add that up?  So if the gas travels down the Dawn Trafalgar line, and then goes up the Owen Sound line, does it get counted on the Dawn Trafalgar line and the Owen Sound line or just --

MS. ELLIOTT:  Just once.

MR. QUINN:  What I would like you to do is, if you would, to show us the calculation from start to finish so we can get a sense of how the allocation is done.

MS. ELLIOTT:  It's not a calculation.  It is a measurement of our actual activity, volumes that we move through our system every day, every month.

It is an actual measurement of activity captured in our gas control systems.

MR. QUINN:  So how do you get the non-regulated storage volumes?

MS. ELLIOTT:  From the non-regulated storage activity, so the ex-franchise storage in and out.

MR. QUINN:  From it is from actual nominations or actual deliveries?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The actual nominations.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And so that is compared up against actuals in throughput from -- in storage, you've got what goes in and out of Dawn?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.  And so the sum of the nominations will be what goes in and out of Dawn, plus the in-franchise activity.

MR. QUINN:  If it's not in a calculation, then a better description would be helpful, then.  So if you could provide that, because what we've got, if I am reading down at the bottom -- I don't want to jump ahead, but the numbers seem to have a significant allocation to transportation versus storage, but then later on, in other interrogatories, you have now apportioned a portion of it to non-utility storage.

I would like to see how it breaks down from start to finish.

MS. ELLIOTT:  This may be the same question that Mr. Mondrow asked in terms of the difference between the storage allocators and the UFG allocators.  So UFG is a total system number.  It's the unaccounted for gas on Union's system, in total.

So it is allocated to total volume handled, and we count storage injections and withdrawals, plus transport, in that total, and allocate unaccounted for gas to unregulated storage activity to their actual total in proportion -- or their actual numbers in proportion to the total.

For Dawn compressor fuel, we are only dealing with storage fuel, so we are only using storage numbers, total storage activity and total unregulated activity.

MR. QUINN:  So can you provide that description to us in a way that even I can understand it?

MR. SMITH:  I am not sure I understand, Mr. Quinn, what you are asking for beyond what Ms. Elliott, the witness, has articulated and what is set out in the interrogatory.

MR. QUINN:  In the interrogatory response, I had asked for a description with some key figures so that we could walk from start to finish how this is allocated.  Then I provided some of the things I was looking for that would be part of that calculation.  And I got a number, a few sentences and a table.

But I don't see how the calculation hangs together, because I can't compare in some ways 328,000 -- sorry, 328 million gJs to your specific quantity for total storage and transportation that form the 2.245 whatever that would be, something M3.

But what I've got is a bunch of numbers and I don't see how it flows together.  It may just be a simple case, Ms. Elliott, of describing the calculation as you were attempting to, but this is specific to UFG.  You added compressor, and I think I am getting an understanding of the differentiation of fuel just for compressor storage only.

But for UFG, you have an allocation methodology that you are working out, and the response I got in 4.07 doesn't allow me to put the pieces together.

So I am asking for a specific description.  And put those figures into a calculation that says:   Here is where this number came from and here is how it is used to allocate.

MS. ELLIOTT:  And I guess the numbers that we used to do the allocation were provided in the evidence on page 4, which this question referenced.  Unregulated storage volume is a sum of all of the activity on the unregulated storage service contracts for the year.  And the total storage and transportation volume is also the sum of the total activity.  And those aren't calculated numbers, those are numbers that are reported to us out of our gas management systems.

So the sum of all of our activity on our system for the entire year.

That ratio gave us the storage ratio, and then the question asked for the regulated storage volume, which will be a portion of that number.  I think the confusing part may be in the middle, where we have provided a volumetric measure from the cost study versus gJs that we're using currently to do the measurement.

MR. QUINN:  So I'm starting to piece it together, but I don't have clarity.  If you want, we can walk through each step or you can take it by undertaking, but I have 328 million gJs as a regulated storage volume, but then you've got activity at Dawn is 629 million gJs.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Right.  So the difference is the unregulated storage activity.

MR. QUINN:  So if I do simple math on that, I would say about half of the activity at Dawn is unregulated storage activity.

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's right.

MR. QUINN:  So out of your storage allocation, then, if I am putting this together, the Board-approved suggested storage is -- or out of the Board-approved cost study, you had $10 million allocated to storage.  You are saying five, approximately five, then, would be going to the non-regulated business?

MS. ELLIOTT:  In the Board-approved rates, that's true.  On an actual basis, our unaccounted-for for 2009 was 54 million.  And the allocation to unregulated was seven.

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, Ms. Elliott, when you said total UFG in 2009 was 54 million, that is total for the system?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And the 7.3, I think it is, allocated to unregulated is -- actually has a two-step process.  One is allocation to storage, and the second is allocation between regulated and unregulated storage, right?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's right.

MR. MONDROW:  These figures at Exhibit B4.07, part (c), response part (c), they don't actually have -- they don't actually show us anything in respect of allocation between regulated and unregulated storage, do they?

MS. ELLIOTT:  No.

MR. MONDROW:  That's just storage in total as of 2007, right?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Right.  But if we --

MR. MONDROW:  So we can't really compare the two, can we?

MS. ELLIOTT:  No.  If you took the view that half of the storage was unregulated, it would be about $5 million in the Board-approved.

MR. MONDROW:  Now, you had ex-franchise storage services in 2007, right?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Did you do an allocation of UFG to those ex-franchise storage services?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, we did.

MR. MONDROW:  What was that amount?

MS. ELLIOTT:  If you look at Board Staff questions 1 and 2, at attachment -- the attachment to both of those questions, the allocation of unaccounted-for gas to short-term storage was $751,000.  That is at line 21, first column in.

The allocation to long-term storage on the response to question 2, also at line 21, is $4,177,000, also in the first column in.

So just a little under $5 million allocated to the --what was then ex-franchise storage.

MR. MONDROW:  The short-term and the long-term numbers together would be the ex-franchise?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  So that would be a number that would compare to the 2009 numbers in Exhibit A, tab 4?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Before you turn away from that attachment, I do have a question on that attachment, so if you could help us with that.

In the Board-approved, that was 751, which was 4 percent of the percentage of total revenue.

You have now allocated the additional amount, which is $2.5 million of UFG.  And that is associated with, if I am understanding, the 8 pJs of storage that is sold as short-term?

Is that accurate, first?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I think it is 2.3 million.  You're looking at line 21?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MS. ELLIOTT:  The last grouping of columns?  That will be the unaccounted-for gas allocated to all of the short-term storage.

So yes, it is the 8 pJs.  And anything else that was sold short-term.  I think there was an original plan for two.  So...

And the allocation of unaccounted-for for the long-term is on the next schedule.

MR. QUINN:  So you said something there that may be providing the clarity.

You're saying in this 751 that you had in the Board-approved, that was on the basis of two?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I think the original 2007 forecast was two pJs of short-term space that we took -- we took a -- in the settlement agreement, we agreed to increase the revenues by 12 million, but we had no associated costs or activity identified in that proceeding.

So while the revenues reflect a much higher level of activity, there was no costing, or no costing of that activity.  It was an agreement that was net of costs.

MR. QUINN:  You were going to provide a reference for that this morning.  We talked about...

MR. SMITH:  I did this morning already.  I did that already, and it was in last year's deferral account proceeding.  And there is a good description of it, Mr. Quinn, in Union's reply argument.

What I did with that post-it note, I don't know, but you will see on the transcript because I gave the cite already.

MR. QUINN:  To?

MR. SMITH:  To the reporter.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. AIKEN:  You weren't in the room.

MR. QUINN:  Oh, okay.  My mistake, then.  I was just late coming back.

Okay.  I will look it up from there.  Thank you for your help.

So then on that same schedule, then, in the attachment to B1.01, you have the -- under costs for demand of O&M, you've got that incremental $2 million, which is -- that 2.2 is actual.  So the incremental is $2 million, for O&M?

MS. ELLIOTT:  It is incrementally –- it is allocated to the short-term.  In the 2007 cost study, it would have been costs assigned to long-term storage.

MR. QUINN:  Well, this is where I am struggling with it.  It just might be vernacular.

If you can, then, turn up B4.16, the issue, again, is this 7.9 pJs of excess in-franchise space.

And of course it says:

"In order to ensure there is no cross-subsidization, the costs associated with the excess storage are charged to the unregulated business."

But I am seeing costs of this 8 pJs of storage flowing back into short-term storage services account.

Maybe it is vernacular, but I don't understand.

MS. ELLIOTT:  The short-term and long-term are both part of the unregulated storage operation.  So total storage activity, the unregulated operations, includes short-term storage and long-term storage.

The difference is the short-term storage is and will continue to be subject to deferral.  So because it is the excess space available that the in-franchise customers aren't using, the revenues are subject to deferral and refunds to the in-franchise customers.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I guess it is helpful to understand the apparent inconsistency, but why is short-term storage space deemed to be unregulated business when it is predominantly in-franchise assets that are being used to create that, the business opportunity?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The in-franchise assets, the cost of those assets was assigned to the C1 service in the '07 study.

So the in-franchise customers, in their rates, aren't paying for those assets.  But when the Board determined that 100 pJs should be set aside for the regulated utility, we allocated the capacity and the assets related to everything but the 100 pJs.  But the ex-franchise services are still selling that space short term and the costs are assigned to it.  The difference is that the in-franchise customers get a share of that revenue.

MR. MONDROW:  Do you reallocate those for this increment above what you forecast you will need in storage for a year and the 100 pJs?  So this extra amount that is being held for future use, do you reforecast and reallocate the costs associated with that amount every year?

MS. ELLIOTT:  No.  It was set when the rates were set in 2007.

MR. MONDROW:  It's been maintained since then?

MS. ELLIOTT:  In 2007, the rates were set, assuming this 7.9 pJs was sold under C1 services.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.

MS. ELLIOTT:  And the costs were allocated to the C1 customers.

MR. MONDROW:  So you carried that forward?

MS. ELLIOTT:  And we just carry that forward, because the in-franchise customers are paying for, I think it is about 92 pJs.

That's what's in their rates.  When we - if they don't use it - and we had one or two pJs of excess this year that they didn't use - all of that revenue is assigned to the short-term deferral account, but there is no -- other than the commodity cost, there is no associated cost that we're incurring, and the refund goes back to the ratepayers through the deferral account.

So the costs are borne by the ratepayers and they get the benefit of the revenue we earn from selling it.

MR. MONDROW:  But for the amount of the allocation embedded in rates, the ratepayers get revenue benefit, a sharing, but the costs are assigned to the unregulated business?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The costs that were embedded in the rates, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  That were embedded in the rates.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  I want to go back to that definition, then.

So if I understand it, the 100 pJs was set aside by the Board to be used for in franchise for whatever period.  That was to put a box around it to say 100 pJs is in franchise, but not all of it may be used short term; is that accurate?

MR. SMITH:  Near term.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Near term.  So the Board reserved 100 pJs, but in rates the ratepayers were only paying for 92.

MR. QUINN:  And I accept that.  And the 100 pJs was set aside by the Board for in-franchise purposes?

THE DEPONENT:  Right.  So the ex-franchise or the unregulated operation is selling that excess short term.

MR. QUINN:  But how is that deemed to be unregulated or non-utility business or non-utility assets, when they're assets the Board has designated to be set aside for in-franchise customers?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Sorry, they are utility assets.  But that's what the 2.2 cross charge is.

So we have left the assets associated with that excess space in the utility, but the unregulated operation is basically paying for the use of that asset so that the costs aren't borne by the ratepayers.

MR. MONDROW:  Do ratepayers get 90 percent of those short-term revenues?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Seventy-nine percent of 90 percent, so 71 percent.

MR. MONDROW:  That's a permanent -- well, it is an IRM duration arrangement?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  It doesn't step down like the long term?

MS. ELLIOTT:  It does not step down.

MR. MONDROW:  It could have been worse.  You could have left those costs in the utility, which would have just eaten away at the ratepayers' share of the revenue?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  But you didn't.  To preclude cross-subsidization, what your evidence says is you transferred those -- you're allocating those costs to the unregulated business?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Right.

MR. QUINN:  You're allocating the costs to unregulated, but then you are transferring them back across for the calculation of what the margin --

MR. MONDROW:  The revenues come back.

MS. ELLIOTT:  We are just offsetting.  So the revenues are in, and then we deduct the costs from the revenues and refund the margin.

MR. QUINN:  Well, maybe it is vernacular again, but the short-term storage services account is paying for the cost of those assets that are being used by -- to attract the revenue?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  But tell me, again, how that is unregulated business, because if the storage is being used, it is ostensibly being held for in franchise customers?  How is it part of the unregulated business?

You might market it and you may be a marketing agent on behalf of the in-franchise assets, but that doesn't necessarily mean it is part of the non-regulated -- or unregulated storage business.

MR. TETRAULT:  I think we might agree, Dwayne, they are utility assets that are not needed by in-franchise customers, and, as such, they are being sold on a short-term basis with a portion of the margin ultimately being shared with ratepayers.

MR. MONDROW:  I kind of think of this as an optimization incentive.  If you forget about the cost side for a minute, you have this amount of space that's being held for future utility customers.

You are optimizing that.  In exchange for that activity, you are getting to keep a share of the revenue, but it is a little better, because you also allocate out the costs, which could have been left with the utility, perhaps, but presumably in the end there was either agreement or an argument you should allocate them out.

MR. TETRAULT:  I think that is a fair interpretation.

MR. QUINN:  I think one way or the other, we would be paying for it.  We would be paying for it in rates, and then it would be pure margin, and the revenues would be pure margin, as well.

MR. MONDROW:  We aren't paying for it.  That's the point. The costs are excluded from utility cost of service; right?

MR. QUINN:  From utility cost of service, but it's in a deferral account.  We're paying for them in a deferral account.

MR. MONDROW:  The costs aren't.  Just the revenues are in --

MS. ELLIOTT:  The margin is what you get.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, I take that.

MR. QUINN:  So what are the costs, demand O&M, what are those in that attachment 1?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That is the amount, basically the cross-charge, the amount -- the unregulated operation is paying the utility operation for the assets that have remained with the utility that are excess to the utility's requirements.

MR. QUINN:  So we are paying for them through that mechanism?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Sorry, you are getting the revenue less the cost.

MR. QUINN:  Right.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Right.

MR. MONDROW:  I think the thrust of the point is that because the margin is net of the costs, there is an indirect payment by the recipients of that revenue of those costs.

But under the alternative scenario, where the costs have been left in the utility, it would be the same result.

MS. ELLIOTT:  The utility would end up with 100 percent of the costs and --

MR. MONDROW:  There would be less net revenue under that scenario than there is under the approach you use?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, yes.

MR. QUINN:  That one I am going to have to understand, because if all of the costs are left with the utility, then we would get all of the revenue.

MS. ELLIOTT:  No.

MR. MONDROW:  No.  We would have to pay an incentive to get them to optimize it, presumably, but I should leave it to you, I think, now.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  If we can move on to -- well, 4.09.  I think I understood this morning the Dawn E justification was originally and -- in the original cost study -- maybe I will just ask the question.

It was in the original cost study separated between storage and transportation?

MR. TETRAULT:  Mr. Quinn, what do you mean by the original cost study?  You mean the Board-approved 2007 cost study?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MR. TETRAULT:  Yes, that's true.

MR. QUINN:  So this is a change, and that is what is noted in the table, then?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.  In Board Staff 1.14, that's one of the changes that we have referenced.

MR. QUINN:  I got that this morning.  Okay, thank you.

Okay, if you can turn up Exhibit B4.12, what this is talking about was the value of construction work in progress was omitted from the calculation of unregulated storage plant.

Can you give me the basis why it was omitted in the first place?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I think we have used sort of the historic methodology of leaving construction work in progress out of plant in service until it is actually in service.

So we only captured the in-service plant in this allocation.

MR. QUINN:  But the total plant that you were using was total plant as of the end of December 31st, 2007?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. QUINN:  So there was an omission in the same regard on the regulated side?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, there would have been.

MR. QUINN:  Can you give us that amount, by way of undertaking?  I imagine you don't have it off the top of your head, but can you provide that amount?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Sorry, just a minute.

The construction work-in-progress for general plant would have been the total.  So these are total plant numbers for 2007.

MR. QUINN:  So can you separate the total between regulated and unregulated, then?

MS. ELLIOTT:  This was the -- this was the purpose of calculating the allocation, so we could determine what the general plant is.

MR. QUINN:  Construction work-in-progress both regulated and unregulated, you are saying it is the total that was omitted?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Sorry.  The allocation factor that we used excluded construction work-in-progress, so we arrived at a general plant allocation factor which excluded construction work-in-progress.

The answer to this question, if you included it, the factor would go up to 3.64.

MR. QUINN:  So I guess the question -- what I am understanding you to say is that the construction work-in-progress of 156 million was both unregulated and regulated work?  Utility or non-utility, maybe, is a better way of saying it.

MS. ELLIOTT:  It was in the total general plant prior to the allocations, yes.

MR. QUINN:  So how much of it was utility and how much was non-utility?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Based on this allocation, we would be looking at -- we would be allocating 3 percent of it to the non-utility.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  But that's not what I am asking.

What is the actual utility and what is the actual non-utility?

MS. ELLIOTT:  You're talking about general plant here.  We don't have an actual -– this is -- we need to allocate general plant.  You are talking about the buildings, the computer equipment, the furniture, the -- basically the overhead structures that we're looking to determine -- to have an allocation to the non-utility, and we have done that in proportion to the storage plant, storage plant as a percentage of the total.

MR. QUINN:  But when you -- if you had included it, it shifted.

MS. ELLIOTT:  It would have increased the allocation by about half a percent.

MR. QUINN:  Why would that happen?

MS. ELLIOTT:  There is less construction work-in-progress in the storage than there is in the total.  Proportionally more, I guess.

It looks like $22 million of the unregulated storage is construction work-in-progress.

MR. QUINN:  Of storage.  That's utility and non-utility?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Sorry, no.  That is non-utility storage.

MR. QUINN:  Where are you drawing that reference from?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I am just comparing the answer to the interrogatory to the original filed evidence.

So the table --

MR. QUINN:  Mm-hmm?

MS. ELLIOTT:  -- on page 12 of Exhibit A, tab 4, has the total plant excluding construction work-in-progress, storage and total.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So if I compare the table you provided in the interrogatory response to the A, tab 4, page 12, then I should be able to net out the difference?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. MONDROW:  When that CWIP closes -– well, you don't close it in the unregulated business, but when that unregulated plant for accounting purposes is finished, so you capitalize that construction work-in-progress at that time, this allocation in subsequent years will shift around.  This percentage will change.  Presumably, the allocation to unregulated will go up, right?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And had it been other way, had you been building regulated assets, this CWIP for the regulated assets, if included, would shift the allocation to unregulated down?

Sorry, that's kind of a backwards way of saying it.  It depends on what you're building at the time, right?  During this period, you have been building unregulated assets, but if you get to a period where you are building regulated assets, the CWIP, when it's closed in that case to rate base, will tend to shift the allocation out, down?

MS. ELLIOTT:  It could have that impact, yes.  And we're just talking about one year's worth of construction work-in-progress over total plant, so...

MR. MONDROW:  But in this 2009 year, you happened to be doing more work on the unregulated assets?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  I am going to skip over B4.13 because I think we are covering that at the end, the confidential.

So if we go to B4.14, in Table 3, you provided a breakdown of unregulated storage O&M by activity.  Then I had asked:

"Please replicate Table 3 showing the regulated storage O&M activity, using the same methodology."

I am not understanding when you said Union does not have the information to show regulated storage O&M.

I am having trouble with that, relative to the fact that's -- isn't that your basis for your cost study in the first place?

MS. ELLIOTT:  What we do in the cost study that we don't do with the actuals is the initial functionalization.

So for ratemaking purposes, the cost study takes all of our forecasted cost and does a functionalization to determine what is related to storage.

We don't track costs on an actual basis by function.  So we don't have total storage costs tracked or captured on an actual basis.  So we've gone in and asked for activity analysis to get the unregulated storage piece, but we don't have the other -- the regulated storage piece separately identified.

MR. QUINN:  So this activity analysis, are these the conversations you were describing this morning?

MS. ELLIOTT:  In determining the forecast, there's two ways that O&M is basically allocated to unregulated storage.  It is either tied to a specific asset and then split in proportion to that asset, or it is a support cost.

And when the people are doing their budget, they're identifying the effort supporting the unregulated operation and determining the amount allocated to unregulated storage on that basis.

MR. QUINN:  So that is these conversations that you spoke of this morning?

MS. ELLIOTT:  And the budget process, when people are looking at their budget, determining their budget work.

MR. QUINN:  So budget would be forecast?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  You're saying this is actual, though?

MS. ELLIOTT:  We don't change the settlement or the allocation unless there is a reason to change it, and that would be what takes place through the conversations.

MR. QUINN:  So understanding the process you go for unregulated, could you not create a reasonably –- reasonable educated guess as to what the regulated storage operations, then, would have for O&M?  Under those same categories?  Because if you have gone through the conversations to allocate out the unregulated, wouldn't the net be the regulated?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The regulated operation in total, yes, but not necessarily regulated storage only.  So we've split the costs between utility, regulated operations, and that's evidenced in our earnings-sharing calculation and in the filing, the financial schedules we filed.

We have split the total cost between utility and non-utility, but we haven't taken the utility and determined what is storage.  That is an activity that is done only in the rate-setting process.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I will defer on that, then, because the next questions will maybe clarify my concern, on B4.15.

I had asked:
"In Table 4, please expand the table to include the regulated storage O&M."

Which we just discussed.  But then what I understand here is that you've got the activities in the business development include such services as you have listed here.

What dollar values are associated with each of those costs or each of those areas of activity?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I haven't got those activities costed out.  I am just trying to think of what -- we provided O&M.

If you look at Exhibit A, tab 4, page 17, there is a table in the middle of that page that shows total business development O&M in 2009 of eighteen-and-a-half million, with the unregulated piece being a million-eight.

That would leave the balance for the rest of these activities.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I guess this is the part I am struggling with.  Business development, you have listed these services down below, and you've got amongst them gas management services, which you said the activity is
about -- half of the activity through Dawn is regulated and half is unregulated for storage.  That is what we covered earlier on?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That is the activity at Dawn, but there is also activity across our system.  Receipts and deliveries of gas get transported across our system and delivered to customers that don't go through Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  So those are C1 services?

MS. ELLIOTT:  In-franchise sales services, direct purchase delivery services.

MR. QUINN:  If they're receipts and deliveries across your franchise, in and out of your franchise?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Sorry, into the franchise and either out on transportation or out to end use customers inside the franchise.  Gas management services deals with all of the gas on our system.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So they're managing all of the gas in the system, including the gas management services at Dawn.

Then you've got ex-franchise transport sales, which is more what I was describing as the C1 services.

MS. ELLIOTT:  C1 and M12 transport.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And M12 would be considered?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Transport is all regulated.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Then you've got product development, so -- well, I guess my premise here is, what you've got is eighteen-and-a-half-million dollars of business development costs, and, as we have heard, that your storage operations are competitive business.

And so I guess from an intuitive point of view, a number of these business development activities would be developing unregulated business opportunities in a competitive market.

Yet you've got 10 percent of the costs of business development going to your unregulated business, and 90 percent for in-franchise customers who have a rate schedule they rely on.  They don't have an awful lot of product development in in-franchise services.

So what I am challenged with is:  How did you come up with the allocation of 10 percent in business development that would go to the unregulated services?

MS. ELLIOTT:  And that allocation would be based on that group or those groups making a determination of what their effort was to support the unregulated operation, and that's 10 percent.

MR. QUINN:  But if I've got -- and I've -- if you are at Dawn and having to say, What is my throughput, you know based upon whether algorithm such -- what you are going to have in and out.  Your greater variable would be what is coming in and out through unregulated storage business or C1 services.

Again, that takes a lot greater level of effort than saying it is a 30-degree day and here is how much gas will probably come out of Dawn.

So I guess what I am struggling with - and if you can't give me more than there's conversations - I struggle with how only 10  percent of your business development costs are allocated to unregulated, because, based on conversations, that's -- that seems low.

MR. MONDROW:  When you say the composite allocation for business development in the prefiled evidence is 10 percent, presumably you're referring to a composite of each of these constituent activities or departments.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.  There are a number of departments inside business development.  Some will be more heavily unregulated than others.

MR. MONDROW:  Do you have the individual allocations from each department?

MS. ELLIOTT:  In terms of a department-by-department allocation --

MR. MONDROW:  For each of these --

MS. ELLIOTT:  I am not sure that our budgets and our numbers are actually coming -- would come together in that same split, but we would have costs -- more department-level costs inside the business development group.

MR. MONDROW:  If you provide some of those, that might clarify this point.

MS. ELLIOTT:  We can do that.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, that's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  JT1.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.6:  TO PROVIDE DEPARTMENT-BY-DEPARTMENT ALLOCATION OF COSTS.

MR. QUINN:  Can I proceed?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Next interrogatory is B4.17 -- B4.17, excuse me.

Now, I understand your position.  It says that you -- well, I don't want to try to put it simply and get it wrong, so I guess we believe this information is still valuable, because we are talking about some allocations, and it goes to the points we were discussing before, is:  What assets are making up the deliverability capability of these long-term storage services?

So we are asking a question that is basically trying to understand the delivery components for 2008 and 2009.  If it is a question of confidentiality, I believe we have already got a mechanism here where you have provided the answers in B4.13 under confidentiality.

Would you agree to provide those numbers under confidentiality?

MR. SMITH:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  I think he said "no".

MR. QUINN:  That's what I thought I heard but... and what would be the reason?

MR. SMITH:  Articulated in the question -- articulated in the answer.  We don't think they're relevant, 2008 and 2009 figures, not relevant to the decision that was made back in NGEIR with respect to 2007 assets.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I guess the premise when we talked about it before is you are providing some non-utility services that may or may not have utility assets, pre-existing assets, NGEIR assets they are using to support those services.

I understand the deliverability as is -- what is underpinning those services moving forward.  It would go some way to giving us assurance that we get what we pay for and pay for what we get.

MR. SMITH:  I don't think we need to have an argument about this now.  I think you have an undertaking, and to the extent the undertaking doesn't satisfy you, then -- and you feel this question is related to that, and have a different view, then obviously you can bring a motion.  But I think in the abstract, the discussion, we are not going to advance it.

But I do think it may be of assistance to wait and see what the undertaking says.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, I will accept that for now.

So the attachment to B4.17 did provide deliverability from storage.  I just want to make sure I understand the figures.

Under the cost of service, the Board-approved cost of service, ex-franchise service had an underpinning deliverability of 1.32 percent?

MR. TETRAULT:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  And then when the adjustment was made, a shift was made, and then just to skip down the difference, unregulated storage, 1.2 percent deliverability storage was moved from ex-franchise to in-franchise; is that accurate?

MR. TETRAULT:  For purposes of recalculating these allocations, that's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Why was 1.32 percent not used to be able to shift not only the allocation of space, but the deliverability?

MR. TETRAULT:  I think in that case, Mr. Quinn, we took the view that our standard storage deliverability offering is based on 1.2 percent.  So therefore that was the deliverability that was transferred, if you will, along with the 7.9 pJs of space, again for purposes of adjusting these allocators.

MR. QUINN:  Was there something in the NGEIR decision that said to use that 1.2 percent?

MR. TETRAULT:  I don't know.  I can't say I can recall.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, if you, either by way of undertaking or whatever, provide me the reasoning for that derivation, I don't want to get into argument about whether that is appropriate or not.  If you can provide the reasoning that supports a 1.2 percent transfer, that would be appreciated.

MR. SMITH:  Well, I think the witness did give the answer.  If there is anything additional, we will obviously update the transcript.  But he did give you the answer.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I will be more precise in my question.  What is Union relying upon besides its characterization of standard storage service?  Is there anything in the Board's decisions in NGEIR or other decisions to say that is the way the -- that's the amount of deliverability that should be moved with the space?

MR. SMITH:  Well, if there is anything else, we will let you know, but I don't think there is.

MR. QUINN:  So it is only the 1.2 percent as characterized by Union as standard, but not necessarily the amount of deliverability that is underpinning the assets?

So I will ask the question that way.  You have 1.32 percent underpinning your ex-franchise storage assets in your cost-of-service study, but you have chosen a different figure to transfer the deliverability across to in-franchise.  I am asking the basis for that 1.2 percent.

MR. KITCHEN:  I think that we have answered it.  The basis of it, of the 1.2 percent is that is what the standard storage offering is.

MR. QUINN:  Where does this standard storage offering have its genesis as being the appropriate level of assets that move with space?

MR. KITCHEN:  I believe that was dealt with in the storage allocation proceeding.

MR. QUINN:  Pardon?

MR. KITCHEN:  I believe that was dealt with in the storage allocation proceeding.

MR. QUINN:  If you can provide the reference to where that was decided upon, we would appreciate that.

MR. KITCHEN:  We will see what we can do.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking JT1.7.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.7:  To Provide reference in storage allocation proceeding to standard storage offering as being appropriate level of assets.

MR. QUINN:  I appreciate that Union provided a corrected B4.18 this morning, and I just wanted to ask if you can turn that up.

I want to walk through a little bit of the response and also some discussion you had with Mr. Aiken about the content.

I guess, just going in order of the response, the space deemed unavailable at 1.5 pJs, my understanding is that is allocated to only to in-franchise; is that accurate?  But the costs -- go ahead.

MS. ELLIOTT:  I think it is part of the 100 pJs, in terms of the count of the space, but the costs have been allocated to both in-franchise -- both regulated and unregulated.

MR. QUINN:  So this may be deemed to be a theoretical question.  We may be years away from it.  But is the amount of used and usable space for in-franchise customers 100 pJs or is it 98.5?  So in other words, at what point do we get to our limit of in-franchise cost-based service?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Currently, the usable space would be the 98.5.  If we get to the point of needing the 100, we will have to deal with the 1.5-pJ difference.

MR. QUINN:  Would it your intent to deal with it as a cost -- my understanding is the Board has ordered 100 pJs of cost-based space, so --

MS. ELLIOTT:  That will be what we do.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So when I got down to the bottom in answer in (b), which is - I appreciate there is an attempt to allocate some system integrity space to ex-franchise storage services.  In their dialogue with Mr. Aiken, it was pointed out that is about 3 percent of the total costs.

Can you help us understand, again, if what was -- from the previous interrogatory, there was about half of the activity at Dawn was unregulated storage service, how it only attracts 3 percent of the cost for system integrity space?

MR. TETRAULT:  Well, I will perhaps start, Mr. Quinn.  The 3-percent figure that we reference in the corrected IR is directly out of the -- as the IR references, directly out of the 2007 cost allocation study.

So in other words, the unregulated business continues to pick up that, that cost.

MR. QUINN:  I am having trouble reconciling the amount of storage activity to the allocation of cost.

If activity is the measure under which you have allocated other costs, how does this only get 3 percent?

MR. TETRAULT:  I think this is really based more on the allocator used in the cost study that determines what rate classes use system integrity space, as opposed to, in your earlier discussion with Ms. Elliott, activity in and out of Dawn that may not necessarily tie to system integrity.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Can you show us -- can you walk through the calculation that would result in 3 percent to ex-franchise services, 97 percent, obviously, in-franchise services, based upon the 2007 cost study, what was approved at that time?

MR. TETRAULT:  Sorry.  Just to make sure I understand your question, you want that calculation that shows how we arrived at 3 percent --

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MR. TETRAULT:  -- system integrity costs?

MR. QUINN:  Absolutely.  I was asking, I guess, to understand in the first place why the original response was nothing, and then it is coming back at 3 percent.

There isn't anything in your evidence that I saw that tells us how you got there.

MR. TETRAULT:  That would be per the '07 cost-of-service proceeding.  That figure of $347,000 is directly out of the cost allocation study, in terms of the amount of system integrity costs that were allocated to what was, at the time, C1 storage.

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Tetrault, the system integrity space has had some history, which Mr. Kitchen would be well aware of, and the representations that Union has made as system integrity space is necessary for the operation of storage by an integrated system operator.

I am struggling with trying to still reconcile how those allocators would determine 3 percent, so possibly you could break down the individual components of system integrity space, and how that finds its way not arriving as an allocation to ex-franchise services.

Can you do that by way of undertaking?

MR. TETRAULT:  I think -- I am not sure what we will find, but I think we can certainly attempt to do so.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I would appreciate that.  Thank you.

MR. MONDROW:  Just before Mr. Quinn moves on, can you explain what system integrity space means?

MR. TETRAULT:  It is essentially space that is reserved for -- for contingency purposes, to deal with unexpected weather variances, to deal with back-stopping or supply failures, and also to essentially maintain operational integrity of the storage pools.

MR. MONDROW:  Are those elements you just articulated, are those the three components or functions that the interrogatory request refers to?  I know you didn't write it, but is that how you would read it?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yeah, that would be my comment.  I think that was our -- in answering this question, that was our assumption in terms of the three components that were referenced there.  But again, I don't know that we necessarily knew that with certainty.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.

MR. TETRAULT:  We tried to provide a comprehensive but high-level answer to the IR.

MR. QUINN:  If you could break it down by the original request.  And specifically, you understand the context for our question now?

MR. TETRAULT:  I do.  I don't believe that we -- I will need to take a look, Mr. Quinn.  I don't believe we necessarily allocate costs by component directly.  So I will need to -- I will need to take a look and see what we can do, if anything.

MR. KITCHEN:  Maybe I can just jump in here.

The system integrity, in itself, is used to provide different –- or to serve different purposes.

So as Mr. Tetrault said, one of the functions is to manage daily weather variances.  It also manages fluctuations on a daily basis for UFG.  It is there to manage back-stop -- or back-stop supply failures.  It is also there to manage operational needs of both transportation and storage.

Each of the components is allocated on a space basis to its rate class based on the use of each rate class.

So for example, if 3.3 bcf or pJs of system integrity is there to manage weather variances, then that 3.3 pJs is allocated entirely to in-franchise general service market.


So it is not based on activity.  It is based on how system integrity is used.  I believe that in the 2007 cost study, as part of the working papers, we would have provided an allocation of system integrity to rate classes.  That would probably be helpful in terms of showing how much goes to C1, and I think that that may answer the question.

So I think we will find that working paper and we will provide that.

MR. MONDROW:  That would be great.  Thanks.

MR. MILLAR:  Do we need an undertaking for that?

MR. QUINN:  Yes, please.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  JT1.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.8:  To break down the individual components of system integrity space, and how that finds its way not arriving as an allocation to ex-franchise services, to reconcile how those allocators would determine 3 percent

MR. QUINN:  You may be comforted by the fact that I am through my interrogatories, but I wanted to loop back to some questions from this morning.  There aren't many, panel, so I appreciate your ongoing help in this area.

This morning -- I don't think you need to turn it up, but if you want to you can.

Our friend Mr. DeRose was asking about representations of conditions precedent that were stated in your financials on page 9 and 10.

His question to you was:  Was there any formal filings or any formal communications that were sent out to provide additional information to the market about the status for the St. Clair line?

And I thought I started to hear the first of your answer, Ms. Elliott, but can you answer that question first?  And I have a subsequent one.


MS. ELLIOTT:  The answer is, no, there were no formal filings.

MR. QUINN:  So under any kind of informal filings or any kind of informal communications, has it been part of any representations you have made to either your shareholders or through to the financial community?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Not that I am aware of, no.

MR. QUINN:  Could you check to see if you have anything?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I don't think I can check informal communications at this stage.

The only update that may be -- and I apologize for not having it, but it would be our first quarter financials as to whether there was anything presented in the management discussion and analysis in that, and I just can't recall

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  If there is nothing, then no need to get back.  But if there is something, would you be able to provide it?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Certainly.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Would you like an undertaking for that, Mr. Quinn?

MR. QUINN:  I am accepting of there was nothing subject to check, if that is the way Ms. Elliott would like to receive it.

MS. ELLIOTT:  That would be great.

MR. MILLAR:  Thanks.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

If you could turn up Exhibit A, tab 2, appendix B, schedule 1?  We were looking at that this morning.

MS. ELLIOTT:  I have that.

MR. QUINN:  That makes one of us.  I was looking back at the evidence, excuse me.

There is a figure -- sorry, excuse me.  There is a figure in line 3 under "Adjustments", so line 3c, of 9.047.  What contributes to that $9 million adjustment?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That is in footnote 2.  So the shared savings mechanism is the majority of it at 8.9 million.  That's the removal of the amounts receivable from the shared savings mechanism.

Market transformation is a half-a-million, and then we have some minor accounting adjustments for less than half-a-million.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  With the small print, I had missed the little "ii" footnote.  So that is sufficient there.  Thank you.

MR. MONDROW:  I would like to ask a follow-up.  What are the minor accounting adjustments?  They're minor, but they're $332,000.

MS. ELLIOTT:  I really don't know off the top of my head.  They will be adjustments that relate to periods potentially other than the one we are dealing with here.

MR. MONDROW:  I think, if I recall last year correctly, we had an issue about out-of-period adjustments, so I wonder if we could get that information by way of undertaking?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, okay.  I can see what I can find.

MR. MONDROW:  If it is available.  Presumably it is available, because you looked at the numbers.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That is JT1.9.  Mr. Mondrow, could you repeat what the undertaking is for, with the reference?

MR. MONDROW:  Yes.  With reference to Exhibit A, tab 2, appendix B, schedule 1, footnote 'ii', to detail the components of the accounting adjustment of $332,000.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.9:  WITH REFERENCE TO EXHIBIT A, TAB 2, APPENDIX B, SCHEDULE 1, FOOTNOTE 'II', TO DETAIL THE COMPONENTS OF THE ACCOUNTING ADJUSTMENT OF $332,000

MR. QUINN:  So in that same attachment -- maybe you can just tell me this is the case, but in line 6 under "Operating and maintenance expenses", "Non-Utility Storage" accounts for approximately $12.9 million, would the buildup to that $12.9 million be in the schedules?  Would I be able to break that down?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The detail -- there's -- in the prefiled evidence, there is a table.  On page 17, there's a breakdown.

No, probably the better table is on page 15.  That breaks down the 12.9 million by activity area.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  I will turn that up later.

Subject to our discussions on the confidential interrogatories, those are my questions.  Thank you, panel.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Mr. Gruenbauer.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Mr. Crawford will be happy to hear that thanks to all of the good questions from my friends here, I will whittle my half hour down significantly, I think.

MR. SMITH:  I will pass that on to Mr. Smith.

MR. RYDER:  Mr. Mondrow will join in these questions, so he is going to double team.

[Laughter]


MR. MONDROW:  I think it is triple.

MR. RYDER:  Triple team.
Questions by Mr. Gruenbauer:

MR. GRUENBAUER:  I think I am going to cut to the chase and ask the panel to turn up Union's response to our Interrogatory No. 8, and that is B6.08.  Got it?

And we will get to the attached schedule in a minute, but I just wanted to start with that middle paragraph, the last sentence, where it says:
"The majority of the revenues from utility operations are from bundled services that include storage but don't separately identify the amount for storage."


And very similar language is embedded in your response to one of CME's interrogatories, B3.35, where it says:
"The storage component of the delivery revenue is not separately recorded."


I just wanted to get -- explore that a little bit with you, if I could, because it is my understanding that all of the delivery rates certainly for Union South, with which I am more familiar, the rates are unbundled to separately show charges for storage in all rate classes, the M1, M2, M4, M5, et cetera, et cetera.  Is that right?

MR. TETRAULT:  You are correct with regard to M1, M2, Mr. Gruenbauer, but M4, M5 is, as the IR says, a bundled service.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  So there may be some rate classes where there is no unbundling of the rate into delivery, transportation and storage customer charge in a similar format to the general service rates?

MR. TETRAULT:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  Because one of the things I did, just to try to put some goalposts around this, I am a customer of Union Gas in good old Dutton, and I looked at my gas bills for 2009, and I can tell you I spent $16.64 at my home on storage.

I also work for the City of Kitchener under the T3 rate, and last year we spent over $1.2 million on our storage service, and it was actually broken out into three different components, space, deliverability and injection/withdrawal charges.

And it just struck me that, you know, there may be these exceptions where there isn't an ability to capture storage revenues from all rate classes, but it just struck me that for most of your revenues that you bring in, there is, through the rate schedule and the billing system, a record of storage revenues, if we wanted to just zero in on what storage revenues are derived by Union from its bundled rates, like an M1 or M2 and a T3, which is semi-unbundled

With me so far?  Does that seem reasonable?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That may be true of the rates and the billing, but it is not true of the accounting records, in terms of tracking the revenue by those components.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  You are anticipating where I was probably going next, Pat.

Do you have SAP?  Is that the system you use for financial reporting and tracking and so on and so forth?  Or something similar to that, that is kind of like a very powerful mainframe relational database-type system?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, we do.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  Then, as I say, I am just -- I am a little surprised by the response that you provided here to our interrogatory, as well as to CME's, that, you know, there is just this inability to be able to extract the revenues, in-franchise storage revenues of cost-based assets that are part of this 92 pJs.

MS. ELLIOTT:  It is a function of how our system has been set up to record the revenue streams, and we don't have that level of detail.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Is that a level of detail that would be useful to Union and stakeholders, including the intervenors in this room?

MS. ELLIOTT:  We haven't, up until this point, needed it, internally, no.  So we haven't built our systems to capture that kind of detail.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  Because the principle I am trying to get at here -- if I understand the thrust of your responses to the interrogatories, when we are asking about tracking storage revenues and costs and capacity, the whole discussion that Mr. Quinn and Mr. Mondrow had with you for about half an hour, that difficulty is shared by Kitchener.  And that is why I attached that schedule to my Interrogatory No. 8, and asked you to fill it out for 2007 as the jumping-off point, because I think you said in one of your early responses, basically, there was a deemed disposition at that point in time.  That was the essence of the treatment.  So the cost allocation at that point in time was static, and then everything else was dealt with on an incremental fashion through 2008 and 2009, and here we are partway through 2010.

So what I was trying to do was come up with a schedule where people could see that you could reconcile total revenues, costs and capacities, broken out between regulated and unregulated, including -- what I tried with this schedule was transfers in and out.

I guess what I wanted to ask you was, number 1, did you understand sort of why I was asking what I was asking?  And number 2, was it, you know, is it a bad -- if you could fill out this schedule, wouldn't that assist greatly in providing assurances to people that these numbers can be reconciled?

MS. ELLIOTT:  We do split our financial statements between utility and non-utility revenues and costs, and that is provided in the earnings-sharing calculation.

What we don't do or maintain are detailed functional records for the utility operations.  We have had no reason to maintain that and we haven't set processes or systems up to do that.

It would require a number of allocations to functionalize revenues and costs –- sorry, revenues could be calculated, but the costs would go through the same methodology as the cost study does.  And we don't do that on our actuals.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.

MS. ELLIOTT:  And have had no reason to do it.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Well, speaking as an intervenor and a stakeholder that is going to be heading into a settlement conference in these proceedings in a couple of weeks, is it possible that it would be worth considering or investigating going down that route, so that people do have some assurances that there aren't, for example, cross-subsidies?

And I asked in an interrogatory about that, which received a limited response, and I know some other people have had concerns as well about whether there are cross-subsidies remaining, or arising, even using the approved methodology.

So if that is a concern, that might be mitigated by, you know, a more transparent tracking.

Double -- perhaps double recovery of costs, which again was something I was hoping might not be revealed by the schedule, if the numbers had have been filled in, that, yes –- and you had that discussion about how the costs are being recovered, that whole discussion about the C1 bearing the 7.9 and so on and so forth.

It is just that whole discussion kind of made me feel a little bit better that I think I asked the right question, but perhaps the format of the schedule was not precise enough.  And is that something that Union could consider to -- on a going-forward basis, to provide these kinds of assurances that there is a proper tracking and costs do follow the revenues, and that we won't have this debate year in and year out about the deferral accounts and whether, you know, costs have been loaded on in-franchise rates and yet the benefits are flowing through on the ex-franchise?

That is just basically the -- I am rambling a bit here, but that is the principle that I am trying to get at.

I think your position is you are doing what you were directed to do, which is separate it and leave it alone.  Okay?

MS. ELLIOTT:  But the utility -- dividing the utility financial statements into smaller buckets, I am not sure is going to get you what you are looking for.

If what you are looking for is a matching of the revenue and the cost in each of the smaller buckets, I am not sure what the result will be.  But we have given you the total utility operation, which shows total revenues and total costs and utility earnings.

As I say, dividing that into smaller pieces, I am not sure will get you what you are -- get you anything more than what you have right now.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  Well, I will leave it for now, but as much as anything, I just wanted to kind of get it out there on the record that that is where -- City of Kitchener was coming from, and I suspect, to some extent, maybe some of the other intervenors as well.

Let's see.  Can I ask you to turn up Staff IR B1.19?  I just wanted to ask about your response at part (b), where it speaks to:

"A new asset would be split between regulated and unregulated operations if the new asset replaced an existing asset.  In this case it is appropriate to split the new asset because, as was the case with the existing asset, it will be used to provide both regulated and unregulated storage services."

The question I had is for a new asset that was replacing an integrated asset that on a going-forward basis would provide services in both camps.

How would you -- how would that cost be added, on some sort of fully-allocated basis or a marginal basis proportionately between the two, based on activity?

I am just trying to get a sense of how that would be done.

MS. ELLIOTT:  What the answer really refers to is an asset that is put in to replace an existing asset.

So if we put sort of a replacement well into a storage pool, the old well would be pulled out and the new well would be put in in the same proportion as the old well existed.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  Presumably the old well, it could be written completely off.

MS. ELLIOTT:  It's -–

MR. GRUENBAUER:  It might have had a historical cost of, say, a million dollars, and to replace it, it's $5 million, something like that?  Would that be your expectation, that the replacement costs would be higher than whatever was left on the book or a historical cost?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.  The existing asset would be partially regulated and partially unregulated.  Each would have a different value on the books.

The unregulated piece would, the value -- the remaining value would go to income.

The regulated piece would stay in accumulated depreciation, and the new asset would go in in the same proportion.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.

And as far as the -- the capacity associated with that replacement asset, if it was, you know, storage wells or pools or perhaps even some deliverability, would the intent be to replace the existing or preexisting in-franchise capacity on a one-for-one basis?  Or would there be -- could there be some incremental capacity that goes to in-franchise associated with that replacement asset, as well as for the unregulated side?

MS. ELLIOTT:  If there is incremental capacity, then the costs, to the extent that we're replacing an existing asset and adding capacity, then we have a situation where the incremental cost of the additional capacity is unregulated, and the basic -- the cost of the straight-up replacement would be allocated in proportion.

So there is -- there's a split in that case.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  So, in that case, the incremental -- the cost of the incremental capacity would follow the revenues that would be generated on the unregulated side, from that incremental capacity?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Correct.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Did you want to...

MR. QUINN:  When you said in proportion, in proportion to what it was in the 2007 cost study?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The equivalent asset would be replaced in proportion.  The incremental cost of the new capacity would be assigned 100 percent directly to unregulated.

MR. QUINN:  The portion that is allocated, would that be consistent with the 2007 cost study?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  So it is the fully loaded cost goes in for the amount -- that amount of capacity, and the incremental is being apportioned to unregulated?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I'm not sure what you mean by "fully loaded cost".  If we put a $15 million asset in place, but it was 10 million to replace the existing and 5 million incremental, the 10 million would be split in proportion to the existing asset and the 5 million would be directly assigned to the unregulated.

MR. QUINN:  My question, and I will come to it later on in this later stuff, but if you've got an extra 5 million, how are you calculating it is 5 million is the incremental cost?

MS. ELLIOTT:  When we do projects that include both replacement and new, we have to do project costing for both projects:  What's the cost of the replacement only, and what is the cost of the new?

MR. QUINN:  That is what I expected.  I will ask more specific questions in this interrogatory later on.  Thank you.  Sorry, Mr. Gruenbauer.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Gruenbauer, we have been going for about an hour and 45 minutes now.  I was looking to take a break.  Maybe we will take a break, unless you only have one more question, and then we will reconvene.  Let's come back in 15 minutes.  Okay, thank you.

--- Recess taken at 2:56 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 3:11 p.m.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Why don't we get started again, Mr. Gruenbauer?

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

If you could turn up Exhibits B3.36 and .37, those are interrogatories from the CME.

It provides storage capacity at December 31st, 2007, and -- in the first interrogatory, and at December 31st, 2009 in the No. 37 interrogatory, which is a difference of 4.0 pJs.

If I have questions there, is it my understanding that that is maybe the subject matter of the confidential undertakings?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, that's my understanding.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Yes?  Okay.  Thank you.  I will just leave it, then.

If you could turn up B4.01, which is the first of Mr. Quinn's interrogatories, part (a), in the response there is a reference to the 2009 to 2013 gas supply plan.

Is that something that Union would be prepared to file, or a summary of it?

MR. TETRAULT:  I need to think about that, Jim.  I am not sure I am in a position to answer that question as to whether we could or couldn't.

MR. SMITH:  Why don't we -- I want to be helpful on this.  So we have referenced it.  So why don't we see what we can provide you with and let you know?

MR. GRUENBAUER:  That's fine.  Thank you.

If there is a newer one, like a 2010 to 2014 that you would be prepared to provide as well?

MR. SMITH:  I am not sure why we would provide --

MR. GRUENBAUER:  That would be the most current one, I would think.

MR. SMITH:  That is not the basis on which -- well, that doesn't seem to be the basis on which actual UDC was based.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  That's fine.  If I could have the one that is cited in the response, that would be good.  Thank you.  Or if you can let me know anyway.

B4.05, actually, this isn't a question.  I think there just might be a typo or a clerical.  In the second attachment, in the column for 2008, the net revenue is showing as 510, and I think that number should be 542.  Because I think that column, the net revenue is the same as the column "revenue" in the preceding attachment, number 1.

MR. TETRAULT:  I think, Jim, there was a timing issue there.

I can't recall which number was which at the moment, but one of those numbers at the time was an outlook.  And then that number was -- that number was updated to an actual.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.

MR. TETRAULT:  That's why you see a variance between the two.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Just for that single year, for 2008?  Because I think all of the other years correspond precisely.

MR. TETRAULT:  Yes, that is my understanding.  It was only for the one year.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Millar, we will need an undertaking number for the previous undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I'm sorry.  Just so the record is clear, perhaps you could repeat what the undertaking is for, but it will be JT1.10.

MR. SMITH:  I am just going back to 4.012.  To respond to the question to produce 2009 to 2013 gas supply plan referenced in B4.01 (a).

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.10:  To Produce 2009 to 2013 gas supply plan referenced in B4.01(a).

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you, Mr. Crawford.

Yes, B4.07.  This is getting to this issue of what constitutes storage activity.

Part (a) of that response, there is a number given of 328 million, roughly, gigajoules, with no source.  Where is that?  Can we find that number anywhere?

MS. ELLIOTT:  No.  The response to the question on unregulated storage volume was obtained from our gas management system.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  I have a follow-up question.

At Exhibit A, tab 4, page 4, there is a figure in 103m3s that's quoted for unregulated storage of 302,561,555 103m3.  I hope I've got that correct.

MS. ELLIOTT:  That evidence has actually been corrected.  The unit of measure there should be gJs.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  That takes care of my confusion, because I converted the 103m3 to gigaJoules, and I got a number that was 35 times -- very good, thank you.

Then B6.04, back to City of Kitchener.  I am almost done.

We had asked in this interrogatory for an update to a schedule from the EB-2009-0101 case, and some information was updated.  But you have declined to provide the forecast information for 2010 and '11, because it is not relevant, and just won't be provided.

You go on to say:

"The forecast information in the 2009-0101 case was required to address the issue of earnings in excess of 300 BPS.  The issue was settled by a change in sharing, and it is not an issue in this case."

Would you agree with me that forecast accuracy would tend to be a standing issue in most rate proceedings, either under cost of service or IRM?  Particularly when we are partway towards rebasing?

MS. ELLIOTT:  This is a case dealing with the disposition of 2009 deferral accounts and the 2009 earnings-sharing.  I don't agree that forecast information is relevant to this proceeding.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  But you wouldn't disagree that the accuracy of your forecasts can be an issue in this proceeding and in others?

MR. SMITH:  Well, I am not sure, Mr. Gruenbauer, that it is an appropriate or relevant question to ask in the abstract, whether forecasting, per se, may be relevant in some other proceeding.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Well, let's flip back to the preceding exhibit, B6.03, where I asked, in Table 1 -- it is the attachment -- for a calculation of the revenue deficiency -- sufficiency from utility operations where it was a comparison of your 2009 actuals against your 2009 forecast, which was provided last year.

And we notice in variance actual versus forecast at lines 2 and 4, transportation revenues were -- actual revenues were 8.3.

Let's see.  You have under-forecasted the revenues and over-forecasted the expenses, if I am reading the variances correctly.

The actual revenues were greater than the forecast.  The actual expenses were less than the forecast.  And those two components drive the majority of the difference in the total revenue sufficiency actual versus forecast.


So as I say, I am not really doing this in the abstract.  That's why I was asking for the updated schedule on that continuity in the following exhibit, B6.04.

So maybe you could provide an explanation for why the transportation revenues were under-forecasted and the expenses were over-forecasted.

We have seen this before in the past, and what assurances do we have that it won't happen again?

That is what I am getting at.  And I don't see how that is not relevant, even in these proceedings.

MR. SMITH:  I guess I am struggling with how that information is relevant, if it will be subject to earnings sharing in this proceeding, a similar proceeding a year from now, what Union's forecast for 2010 or 2011 is.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  We think it is relative to the quantum of the earnings sharing.

MR. SMITH:  I guess I just don't agree that the 2010 and 2011 forecasts were relevant to have that studied by the Board.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  All right, I will move on.

Last question, B6.06.  We have been on this one before.  I have a very quick question here.

I had asked -- we had asked about the in-franchise customers' actual utilization of the 92.1 pJ of storage that cost is embedded in the rates.

In the response, you refer to the 2009 operational plan allocating 90.5 petaJoules.  So are you unable to know what the actual use of storage was by the in-franchise customers during 2009?  Was that the reason for going -- referring to the operational plan?  In other words, does operational plan equal actual in your minds for purposes of the question that we asked?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I would say in this case that the operational plan equals actuals.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  And the subsequent operational plan for the next year is -- would have been the source of the 89.7 petaJoules?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  It's a planning number?

MS. ELLIOTT:  And it is a number that we manage, too.

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  That's it, thank you.  Thank you, panel.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Gruenbauer.

Absent -- aside from the confidential questions from Mr. Quinn, does any other intervenor have questions for this panel?  I know Mr. Viraney does, but I thought we would finish the intervenors first.

No?  Okay, I will pass it over to Mr. Viraney.
Questions by Mr. Viraney:


MR. VIRANEY:  Exhibit B1.06, that's the IFRS-related costs.  Are all of the costs incremental costs related to transition to IFRS?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, they are.

MR. VIRANEY:  And I believe you are seeking recovery of capital expenditures in the IFRS deferral account?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. VIRANEY:  Are you aware of any Board guideline on including or excluding IFRS-related capital expenditures?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I am not, no.

MR. VIRANEY:  Just referring to the OEB Accounting Procedures Handbook which was distributed earlier, it is the "Frequently Asked Questions" issued in October 2009.  That is on the Board website.

If you turn to page 4, and it is question 3, second paragraph.  I am reading from the fourth line onwards:

"The incremental costs in these accounts shall not include costs related to system upgrades or replacements or changes where IFRS was not the major reason for conversion.  In addition, incremental IFRS costs shall not include capital assets or expenditures."


Do you have any thoughts on that?

MS. ELLIOTT:  First of all, this document is published for the electric utilities, so it isn't something that I would normally refer to or look to for guidance.

So this is the first time I have seen it.

MR. VIRANEY:  So would these capital expenditures also be included in rate base?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Not if they're recovered through the deferral account, no.

MR. VIRANEY:  Are you seeking any depreciation-related expenditures in the IFRS?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Not if we get recovery of the capital costs, no.

MR. VIRANEY:  Okay.  Can you as an undertaking, you know, provide a table that excludes capital expenditures, but includes any other expenditures, like depreciation?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Just turn the capital expenditures into a revenue requirement calculation?

MR. VIRANEY:  Yes.

MS. ELLIOTT:  We can do that, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking JT1.11.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.11:  TO PROVIDE A TABLE THAT EXCLUDES CAPITAL EXPENDITURES, BUT INCLUDES ANY OTHER EXPENDITURES, LIKE DEPRECIATION.

MR. VIRANEY:  My second question is with respect to Mr. Baker's role in the different companies.  I believe Mr. Baker was wearing different hats in the different companies.

Did anyone at Union Gas raise any issues related to conflict of interest regarding Mr. Baker's role across the different entities?

MR. KITCHEN:  No.  Any issue around Mr. Baker's role would have been discussed in the context of the two proceedings dealing with the sale of Dawn Gateway and the alternate rate-making proceeding.

MR. VIRANEY:  Thank you.  Going to B3.29, you have a table there that includes the costs in connection with the St. Clair and DGLP's application.

Do these costs include Union Gas costs, or these are just external costs?

MS. ELLIOTT:  These are just third-party external costs.

MR. VIRANEY:  Okay.  Can you, by undertaking, provide the time spent by Union Gas employees on the St. Clair and DGLP's application.

MS. ELLIOTT:  I think we can provide an estimate of that.

MR. VIRANEY:  Okay.  Also, can you provide the fully allocated costs, per hour, broken down by type of staff; that is, management and support staff?

MS. ELLIOTT:  We can try.

MR. VIRANEY:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking JT1.12.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.12:  PROVIDE THE TIME SPENT BY UNION GAS EMPLOYEES ON THE ST. CLAIR AND DGLP'S APPLICATION, AND FULLY ALLOCATED COSTS, PER HOUR, BROKEN DOWN BY TYPE OF STAFF, MANAGEMENT AND SUPPORT STAFF.

MR. VIRANEY:  I am done.  Thanks.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Viraney.

Any other questions that are not of a confidential nature?

And is Mr. Quinn the only person who has questions related to a confidential undertaking?  I think so.

Mr. Quinn, I am not sure exactly where your questions will go, so we will go in camera.

It is always preferable if we can have a clean transcript where we don't have to go in camera.  This may not be possible, but to the extent you can ask questions that may not actually speak directly to the confidential matters, I would ask you to attempt that.  Again, if it is impossible, then that is the case and we will just have to have a confidential version issued separately.

I would also ask that everyone in the room should either have signed the undertaking or be here working for Union Gas.  Everyone else should leave.  Everyone has signed, I take it?

Okay, so I am going to go off the air, and notifying the court reporter and the technician in the back that we should be in camera now.

Hearing that we are, Mr. Quinn, I will turn it over to you.
Questions by Mr. Quinn:


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  I appreciate your sensitivity to keeping the record clean, and this may, with Union's cooperation, be able to do that.

In the undertaking that I received this morning, I thank you for responding and I want to respect your sensitivity.  I guess I am going to ask at this point if Union were willing to answer question A2, under the amount of space before and after for the maintenance capital of storage additions from 2007 to 2009.

You have produced the numbers of the costs, but my question asked for space and deliverability before and after construction ends.  So if you are able to provide that by way of undertaking, confidential as it may need to be, that would satisfy my enquiry.

MS. ELLIOTT:  You will have to back up and give us a reference to what you are talking about.

MR. QUINN:  The confidential undertaking, B4.13.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Okay.  Your question?

MR. QUINN:  A2 was asking for the amount of space and deliverability before and after construction.

So they are projects that were deemed to be maintenance capital, and so I am asking for you to answer A2 for those maintenance capital projects.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Maintenance capital doesn't add capacity.  So the capacity before and the capacity after was virtually the same.

Maintenance capital is a straight replacement of existing facilities; no incremental capacity.

MR. QUINN:  So there is no incremental capacity and you're saying there is no incremental deliverability as a result of those projects?

MS. ELLIOTT:  As a result of the capital, labelled maintenance capital, there is no incremental deliverability; that's right.

MR. QUINN:  So none of these projects that are under the storage additions have any incremental capacity or deliverability associated with them, where there is an allocation between regulated and unregulated?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's right.  There is no incremental capacity required in the regulated operations.  All of the incremental capacity was unregulated.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I guess if you can put that last part in writing, that in the maintenance capital, there was no increase in space for deliverability and put that back in writing, then we would be satisfied.

MS. ELLIOTT:  The second sentence in the answer to A2:

"Maintenance projects do not add space or deliverability capacity."

MR. QUINN:  Well, before the break we were talking -- you were answering questions to Mr. Gruenbauer.  He was trying to be sensitive, I think, to these confidentiality concerns, and you talked about an allocation methodology whereby if an asset was replaced and there was an incremental capacity associated with it, that the incremental costs would go to unregulated and the preexisting capacity replacement costs would be allocated under the 2007 Board-approved cost methodology.

Are you saying that there are no projects that Union has undertaken that would actually have had that type of cost allocation approach applied to them?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Not in the period 2008 to 2009, no.

MR. QUINN:  But that's a jumping-off point.  The year was the end of 2007; is that accurate?

MS. ELLIOTT:  We took the existing assets at the end of 2007 and we added the 2008 -- the 2008 capital additions, including maintenance, and the 2009 capital additions, including maintenance.

And during those two years, we haven't added a maintenance project that's been a combined maintenance and expansion.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Those are my questions related to the undertaking.  I will leave it to Mr. Millar at this point.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much.

Mr. Smith, was there anything that was discussed there that needs to stay off the public record?

MR. SMITH:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  You can confirm that now?  You don't need to think about it?

MR. SMITH:  I confirm that now.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So we will only have one version of the transcript, then, and there will be no confidential version.

I think that concludes today's technical conference.  There are no further matters?

Okay.  Thank you, everyone.
MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the conference concluded at 3:35 p.m.
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